
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Health Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Date: Tuesday, 1 September 2020 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Virtual meeting – Webcast at – 
https://manchester.public-
i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/485358 

 
There will be a private meeting for Members only at 11am Tuesday 1 September 
2020 via Zoom.  A separate invite will be sent to members with joining details. 

 
Advice to the Public 

 
The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020 
 
Under the provisions of these regulations the location where a meeting is held can 
include reference to more than one place including electronic, digital or virtual 
locations such as internet locations, web addresses or conference call telephone 
numbers. 
 
To attend this meeting it can be watched live as a webcast. The recording of the 
webcast will also be available for viewing after the meeting has concluded. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership of the Health Scrutiny Committee 

Councillors - Farrell (Chair), Nasrin Ali, Clay, Curley, Holt, Mary Monaghan, 
Newman, O'Neil, Riasat and Wills 

Public Document Pack

https://manchester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/485358
https://manchester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/485358


Health Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Urgent Business 

To consider any items which the Chair has agreed to have 
submitted as urgent. 
 

 

2.   Appeals 
To consider any appeals from the public against refusal to allow 
inspection of background documents and/or the inclusion of items 
in the confidential part of the agenda. 
 

 

3.   Interests 
To allow Members an opportunity to [a] declare any personal, 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in 
any items which appear on this agenda; and [b] record any items 
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council 
Tax/Council rent arrears; [c] the existence and nature of party 
whipping arrangements in respect of any item to be considered at 
this meeting. Members with a personal interest should declare 
that at the start of the item under consideration.  If Members also 
have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they must 
withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of the item. 
 

 

4.   Minutes 
To approve as a correct record the draft minutes of the meeting 
held on 21 July 2020. 
 

5 - 12 

5.   Manchester's 10 Point COVID-19 Action Plan 
Report of the Director of Public Health & the Consultant in Public 
Health 
 
In July the Committee received the Manchester Local Prevention 
and Response (Outbreak) Plan.  At the end of July the 
Government announced the new restrictions that would apply to 
Greater Manchester and this was followed by the declaration of a 
major incident on Sunday 2nd August. 
 
The attached 10 Point Plan builds on the Prevention and 
Response Plan and sets out the key actions that have been 
progressed over the month of August.  Many of the actions in the 
10 Point Plan will continue throughout September and the plan 
will be updated regularly.   
 

13 - 22 

6.   Recovery of NHS services 
Report of Manchester Health and Care Commissioning, 
Manchester Foundation Trust, Manchester Local Care 
Organisation, Greater Manchester Mental Health NHSFT and 
Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership 
 
This paper provides an update on the reinstatement of NHS 

23 - 56 



Health Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

services following changes in service provision as a result of the 
impact of Covid-19. 
 

7.   Overview Report 
Report of the Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit 
 
This report includes a summary of key decisions that are within 
the Committee’s remit as well as an update on actions resulting 
from the Committee’s recommendations. 
 
The report also contains additional information including details of 
those organisations that have been inspected by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) within Manchester since the Health Scrutiny 
Committee last met. 
 

57 - 62 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Health Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Information about the Committee  

Scrutiny Committees represent the interests of local people about important issues 
that affect them. They look at how the decisions, policies and services of the Council 
and other key public agencies impact on the city and its residents. Scrutiny 
Committees do not take decisions but can make recommendations to decision-
makers about how they are delivering the Manchester Strategy, an agreed vision for 
a better Manchester that is shared by public agencies across the city. 
 
The Health Scrutiny Committee has responsibility for reviewing how the Council and 
its partners in the NHS deliver health and social care services to improve the health 
and wellbeing of Manchester residents. 
 
The Council wants to consult people as fully as possible before making decisions that 
affect them. Members of the public do not have a right to speak at meetings but may 
do so if invited by the Chair.  Speaking at a meeting will require a video link to the 
virtual meeting. 
 
Members of the public are requested to bear in mind the current guidance regarding 
Coronavirus (COVID19) and to consider submitting comments via email to the 
Committee Officer.  The contact details of the Committee Officer for this meeting are 
listed below.   
 
The Council is concerned to ensure that its meetings are as open as possible and 
confidential business is kept to a strict minimum. When confidential items are 
involved these are considered at the end of the meeting and the means of external 
access to the virtual meeting are suspended. 
 
Joanne Roney OBE 
Chief Executive 
3rd Floor, Town Hall Extension,  
Lloyd Street 
Manchester, M60 2LA 
 
 
 
 

Further Information 

For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the Committee 
Officer:  
 
 Lee Walker 
 Tel: 0161 234 3376 
 Email: l.walker@manchester.gov.uk 
 
This agenda was issued on Friday, 21 August 2020 by the Governance and 
Scrutiny Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 3, Town Hall Extension, 
Manchester M60 2LA 



Health Scrutiny Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2020 
 
This Scrutiny meeting was conducted via Zoom, in accordance with the 
provisions of The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2020. 
 
Present: 
Councillor Farrell – in the Chair 
Councillors N. Ali, Clay, Curley, Holt, Newman, Riasat and Wills 
 
Apologies: Councillor Mary Monaghan 
 
Also present:  
Councillor Craig, Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing 
Nick Gomm, Director of Corporate Affairs, Manchester Health and Care 
Commissioning  
Peter Blythin, Group Executive Director of Workforce and Corporate Business, 
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust 
Ed Dyson, Executive Director of Strategy, Manchester Health and Care 
Commissioning 
Stephen Gardner, Programme Director, Single Hospital Service, Manchester 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
Michelle Humphreys, Director of Strategic Projects, Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust 
Sharmila Kar, Director of Workforce & Organisation Development, Manchester 
Health and Care Commissioning  
 
HSC/20/26  Minutes 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2020 as a correct record.  
 
 
HSC/20/27 COVID-19 update 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adult Social Care and the 
Director of Public Health that provided a brief summary of the current situation in the 
city in relation to COVID-19 and an update on the work progressing in Manchester in 
relation to areas within the remit of this committee.   
 
The main points and themes within the report included: - 

 
 An update on the current Public Health response; 

 Information relating to the current Adult Social Care response; and  

 Planning ahead for the recovery. 
 

Page 5

Item 4



Some of the key points that arose from the Committee’s discussions were: -  
 

 Noting the high number of patient discharges form Wythenshawe hospital; 

 How would an outbreak of COVID-19 be managed in a care home; 

 Following the relaxing of lockdown rules and the increase in the number of people 
travelling into the city centre from neighbouring authorities for work, was there any 
concern if this would impact on the number of COVID-19 cases; and 

 Requesting a briefing note on the reported safe and well calls, delivered by in 
house provider services to support citizens.  
 

The Director of Public Health provided the Committee with an update on the figures 
provided within the report by stating that currently there were 3041 confirmed cases 
of COVID-19 in Manchester, which represented 553 per 100,000 of the population, 
and the number of recoded deaths was 413, with no further deaths recorded in care 
home stings. He added that data on the number of deaths were reported based on 
Office for National Statistics figures. 
 
The Director of Public Health stated that as the lockdown was eased there was a 
need to shift the focus of local COVID-19 monitoring systems towards the early 
identification of any emerging ‘second wave’ of coronavirus in Manchester. He stated 
that all data sets available would be closely monitored and reviewed to manage such 
an event occurring. He referred to the local powers to manage such events and 
teams were working with local businesses to support them comply with the national 
COVID-19 guidance and advice. He stated that whilst the compliance teams would 
take action if necessary against a business to protect the public, however the 
approach currently was one of engagement and encouragement. 
 
With reference to managing an outbreak of COVID-19 in a care home setting, the 
Director of Public Health stated that any such occurrence would be managed 
appropriately and sensitively. He stated that the current situation was significantly 
more stable than it had been and systems were established to ensure appropriate 
notifications were received and outbreak control meetings were regularly held to 
monitor and review the situation.  
 
The Director of Adult Social Care addressed the comments made regarding patient 
discharge by saying that this was only ever done if the patient was medically fit to do 
so and managed using an appropriate care pathway. She further agreed to circulate 
a briefing note to all Members on safe and well calls as requested. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the report. 
 
 
HSC/20/28 Local Prevention and Response (Outbreak) Plan 
 
The Committee considered a report and presentation of the Director of Public Health 
that detailed the Manchester COVID-19 Local Prevention and Response Plan that 
had been published on the Council’s website and had been endorsed by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  

Page 6

Item 4



Members were advised that the plan was structured in line with national guidance 
and all other nine Local Authority areas in Greater Manchester had developed their 
own plans and had also contributed to the establishment of the Greater Manchester 
Integrated Contact Tracing Hub. 

 

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee’s discussions were: -  
 

 Requesting the latest data on the R number for the North West; 

 Was there any improvement in the quality of data provided to identify and manage 
any emerging trends were they to occur; 

 Noting the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME citizens and areas of 
socio-economic deprivation; 

 Noting the prevalence of BAME citizens in certain occupations, with specific 
reference to taxi drivers and the risk of infection this presented to them; 

 An assurance should be sought that any supplier the Council held contracts with 
were supplying appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) equipment for 
their staff and ensuring their working environments were COVID safe and 
compliant; 

 Whilst recognising the initial requirement to accommodate individuals 
experiencing street homelessness to protect them during the pandemic, it was 
important to acknowledge and support the hidden homeless; 

 Consideration needed to be given to including the specific needs of the older 
LGBT community within the plan; 

 Noting that for certain residents with health conditions it was difficult to adhere to 
COVID-19 guidance, such as observing social distancing rules; 

 What support was available to children who were asylum seekers; and 

 Despite the relaxation of lockdown measures it was important to emphasise that 
COVD-19 had not gone away and still presented a significant public health risk, 
especially as many people infected were asymptomatic.    
 

The Director of Public Health responded to Members by stating that he was confident 
that local arrangements to trace individuals who may be at risk of infection following a 
positive test were suitable, however stressed that do this effectively appropriate 
resources and capacity needed to be allocated to this function. 
 
The Director of Public Health acknowledged the comments regarding BAME citizens 
and occupations and stated that whilst not currently mandatory, good practice was 
for all taxi passengers to wear a face mask. He stated that all taxi operators should 
be risk assessing their drivers and providing the appropriate PPE, and support was 
available for this. He further advised that the Head of Compliance, Enforcement and 
Community Safety was working with partners across Greater Manchester and the 
North West to ensure a consistent approach was taken by the taxi trade. 
  
With reference to the older LGBT community, the Director of Public Health stated 
whilst this was not explicit within the plan, he reassured Members that a significant 
amount of work had been undertaken around that issue. He further reassured the 
Committee that work was also underway to support all people experiencing, or at 
threat of homelessness. He further stated that COVID-19 advice and guidance was 
available to all contract service providers. 
 

Page 7

Item 4



The Director of Public Health acknowledged that for some individuals understanding 
and complying with COVID-19 guidance would be difficult, however the intention 
would never be to prosecute in those circumstances. He further described that care 
homes would seek to manage this in a compassionate and appropriate manner.   
 
The Director of Public Health reiterated the importance of continuing to comply with 
all of the Public Health advice and guidance regarding COVID-19 to prevent a 
second wave, particularly as we move out of summer and into the winter period and 
flu season.  
 
The Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing informed the Committee that 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children would be considered as ‘Looked after 
Children’ arrangements. She described that discussions were ongoing with the 
providers of the emergency asylum accommodation to prevent evictions if an 
individual were to receive a favourable Home Office decision as to their status. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the report. 
 
 
HSC/20/29 Addressing Inequalities 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Workforce and Organisation 
Development, MHCC and the Director of Policy, Performance and Reform 
Manchester City Council that described that clear evidence had emerged that 
COVID- 19 was having a disproportionate impact on some communities who already 
experienced health inequalities in our city. BAME (Black, Asian and minority ethnic), 
disabled and people in poverty were more likely to contract Coronavirus and had 
poorer mortality outcomes. The longer term health impacts were not known yet but it 
was expected that the socio-economic impacts and impacts of higher mortality rates 
not directly linked to COVID- 19 would also be within these communities, unless 
there were radical changes to the approach to health and social care.  
 
Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report which included: - 

 

 How the pandemic had affected different communities in the city and the actions 
that were to be taken to respond to this; 

 Describing the strategy for planning ahead and describing the workstreams that 
had been identified to progress the city’s recovery; 

 Each workstream involved a significant portfolio of work, and each was in the 
process of identifying short, medium and longer term priority actions; 

 Describing the requirement to continue to meet the statutory duty under the 
Equality Act 2010 to consider equality implications when reviewing policies and 
practices and introducing new ones through an equality impact assessment; 

 Equality Impact Assessments would be used against each of the Council’s 
relevant practical recovery actions; 

 Describing that actions identified across Health and Care to address inequalities 
and provided a summary of the ‘Community Cell’ that had been established to 

Page 8

Item 4



lead the out of hospital/care system within the City during the period of COVID-19 
response and recovery; 

 The Manchester COVID-19 Response Group (“the CRG”) (previously called the 
Manchester COVID-19 Locality Planning Group (MCLPG)) fulfilled the role of the 
Manchester Health Protection Group, which was the established group for all 
health protection issues in Manchester; 

 Addressing inequalities/Health Equity was a key workstream under this group, 
with the purpose of that workstream was to improve experiences of, and 
outcomes for, communities that suffered disproportionate adverse impacts from 
COVID-19; 

 The report described the governance and reporting arrangements.; and 

 Workforce specific measures, noting staff risk assessments were being 
undertaken across MHCC, MCC, MLCO and other partner organisations to 
address the need to ensure that ‘at risk’ staff, including BAME staff were 
protected. 

 

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee’s discussions were: -  
 

 Consideration needed to be given to the messages and imagery used when 
discussing older residents to ensure this was done in a dignified manner; 

 Noting the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME citizens and areas of 
socio-economic deprivation; 

 Consideration needed to be given to ensure all sources of advice and information 
was accessible to all citizens; 

 Welcoming the reported governance arrangements; and 

 What were the barriers and challenges to progressing this important area of work. 
 

The Equalities Lead noted the comment regarding the representation of older people 
and stated that the Age Friendly Board had met with the Chief Executive and Leader 
to ensure any communications were positive and age friendly and this had been 
accepted. He further stated that all of the national COVID-19 data and analysis 
undertaken of factors such as incidents of deaths within BAME communities, gender, 
socio-economic indicators and lifestyle factors would be reviewed and used to inform 
the local understanding and response. 
 
The Equalities Lead further stated that emergency Hub had been established very 
quickly as the pandemic emerged, however acknowledged the comment regarding 
inclusive accessibility. He reassured the Committee that a review of this had been 
undertaken and the lessons learnt would inform any response in the event of second 
wave.  
 
The Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing stated that this area of work 
was not just a health matter but rather a wider issue that incorporated a range of 
factors and considerations, such as housing, planning and employment opportunities. 
All of which influenced and determined the health outcomes of residents, and as 
such needed to be considered in all strategies, plans and decisions. Further noting 
the detrimental impact that any economic down turn would have on the city and its 
residents.  
 

Page 9

Item 4



The Director of Workforce & Organisation Development, Manchester Health and 
Care Commissioning stated that this was a very substantial and complex issue with 
many contributing factors, with consideration also needing to be given to the issue of 
racism when planning and considering next steps. She described that the work 
described was not a ‘box ticking’ exercise, but rather an opportunity to inform and 
direct the design and delivery of services. She stated that it was important that this 
agenda was kept at the forefront of all partners and organisations and was 
maintained as a key priority. She stated the Health and Wellbeing Board had recently 
considered the report and had agreed to review progress as a regular item. 
 
The Chair stated that the Committee similarly recognised the importance of this work 
and would continue to review progress against this activity. He advised that update 
reports would be scheduled on the Work Programme for consideration at an 
appropriate time.  
 
Decision 
 
To note the report. 
 
 
HSC/20/30 North Manchester General Hospital Update 
 
The Committee considered a report and presentation of the Executive Director of 
Workforce and Corporate Business, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust 
and the Executive Director of Strategy, Manchester Health and Care Commissioning 
that provided an update on progress in relation to delivering the future strategy for 
North Manchester General Hospital (NMGH), including the planned acquisition of 
NMGH by Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT) as part of a Single 
Hospital Service (SHS) in Manchester; the delivery of the wider site strategy; and the 
Health Infrastructure Plan capital redevelopment of the site.  
 
Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report and presentation 
which included: - 

 
 Providing a background and information on the development of the SHS; 

 An update on the interim arrangements for incorporating NMGH into the SHS, 
including management arrangements; and 

 Describing the ambitions and delivery of the wider site strategy that set out how 
the capital redevelopment of the NMGH site could provide improved health and 
care facilities, act as a catalyst for local regeneration and support improved health 
outcomes for local people. 
 

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee’s discussions were: -  
 

 Welcoming the plans and ambitions for the site and the benefits this would deliver 
to the wider area and community;   

 Noting the significant progress to date; 

 Recognising the evident commitment to the site and the improvements in the 
management arrangements at NMGH; and 

Page 10

Item 4



 Welcoming the recognition that NMGH is an important site to deliver specialist 
services, both for the city and the North West. 
 

The Group Executive Director of Workforce and Corporate Business, Manchester 
University NHS Foundation Trust stated that careful consideration continued to be 
given to the project spend and discussions continued with the Treasury. He said that 
he was confident that the Treasury remained committed to the project and the case 
for change was strengthened by the existing relationships across a range of partners 
in Manchester to deliver a broader scheme and deliver wider improvements and 
economic benefits to the area. He further stated that staff continued to be informed 
and consulted with as the plans progressed, 
  
The Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing stated that she wished to 
place on public record her thanks and appreciation to all involved in this project. She 
recognised the progress made to date, despite the challenges presented by COVID-
19. This sentiment was supported by the Chair on behalf of the Committee. 
 
The Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing stated that north Manchester 
Councillors would be consulted with regarding the Strategic Regeneration 
Framework and when this was to be considered again by the Committee, Members 
may wish to consider inviting the Chair of the Economy Scrutiny Committee to attend 
and contribute to the discussion. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the report. 
 
 
HSC/20/31  Overview Report 
 
A report of the Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit which contained key decisions 
within the Committee’s remit and responses to previous recommendations was 
submitted for comment.  
 
The Chair noted that the Members would be meeting in private following this meeting 
to discuss the work programme. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the report. 

Page 11

Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Manchester City Council 
Report for Information 

 
Report to: Health Scrutiny Committee – 1 September 2020 
 
Subject: Manchester’s 10 Point COVID-19 Action Plan  
 
Report of:  Director of Public Health & Consultant in Public Health 
 

 
Summary 
 
In July the Committee received the Manchester Local Prevention and Response 
(Outbreak) Plan.  At the end of July the Government announced the new restrictions 
that would apply to Greater Manchester and this was followed by the declaration of a 
major incident on Sunday 2nd August. 
 
The attached 10 Point Plan builds on the Prevention and Response Plan and sets 
out the key actions that have been progressed over the month of August.  Many of 
the actions in the 10 Point Plan will continue throughout September and the plan will 
be updated regularly.   
 
In relation to point 1 of the plan the Public Health Specialist (Health Intelligence) will 
provide a presentation to the Committee on the latest data and information in relation 
to COVID-19 and comparisons between Manchester, Greater Manchester and 
England. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Committee are asked to note the report. 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

 
 

  

Page 13

Item 5



 

Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

This unprecedented national and international crisis 
impacts on all areas of our city. The ‘Our 
Manchester’ approach has underpinned the 
planning and delivery of our response, working in 
partnership and identifying innovative ways to 
continue to deliver services and to establish new 
services as quickly as possible to support the most 
vulnerable in our city 

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  David Regan 
Position: Director of Public Health 
E-mail:  d.regan@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Sarah Doran 
Position: Consultant in Public Health 
Email:  s.doran@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Neil Bendel 
Position: Public Health Specialist (Health Intelligence)  
Email:  n.bendel@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report.  Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting.  If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
Local Prevention and Response (Outbreak) Plan, Manchester Health Scrutiny 
Committee, 21 July 2020 
 
 

Page 14

Item 5

mailto:d.regan@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:s.doran@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:n.bendel@manchester.gov.uk


1 
 

 

Manchester’s 10 Point COVID-19 Action Plan : August 2020 
(Refreshed 14 August 2020) 

 

Introduction 

 

This plan for August 2020 is an integral part of the Manchester Prevention and Response Plan, 

endorsed by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 8th July 2020.   

 

Following the announcement on Thursday 30th July of the new restrictions and the declaration on 

Sunday 2nd August of a major incident relating to Greater Manchester, the need for enhanced action 

is now fully understood.   

 

The 10 point COVID-19 Action Plan mirrors the national and Greater Manchester approach with a 

focus on the following: 

 

1. Data and intelligence (point number 1)  

2. Testing (point number 2) 

3. Contact tracing (point number 3) 

4. Contain measures (points 4-7) 

5. Planning ahead (points 8-10) 

 

Sir Richard Leese     Councillor Bev Craig 

Leader of the Council Executive Member for Adult Health and 

Chair of the Manchester Health and Wellbeing Board  Wellbeing 

       Manchester City Council 

 

Joanne Roney OBE     David Regan 

Chief Executive      Director of Public Health 

Manchester City Council    Manchester City Council 

 

Fiona Worrall      Katy Calvin-Thomas 

Strategic Director Neighbourhoods   Acting Chief Executive 

Manchester City Council    Manchester Local Care Organisation 

 

Ian Williamson      Sir Mike Deegan 

Chief Accountable Officer    Chief Executive 

Manchester Health and Care Commissioning Manchester University NHS Foundation 

Trust 

Neil Thwaite 

Chief Executive 

Greater Manchester Mental Health Trust 

 

The Manchester COVID-19 Response Group (Health Protection Board) is a multi-agency partnership 

that will oversee the implementation of this plan and key decisions will be escalated to Manchester 

Gold Control chaired by Joanne Roney, Chief Executive, Manchester City Council.  For any further 

information about this plan please contact (d.regan@manchester.gov.uk). 

Page 15

Item 5Appendix 1,

mailto:d.regan@manchester.gov.uk


2 
 

 

1. Ensure that strategic and operational decisions in respect of COVID-19 are informed 

consistently by high quality data and intelligence  

 

● Incorporate GM COVID-19 escalation framework metrics within the Manchester COVID-

19 early warning dashboard, specifically the weekly incidence rate, positivity rate, Clinical 

Assessment Service (CAS) call increase, hospitalisations and inpatient diagnoses. 

● Use the detailed record level data available within the Public Health England COVID-19 

Situational Awareness Explorer and other datasets  to continually develop our 

understanding of the transmission (new cases) and prevalence of COVID-19 in particular 

geographical areas, age groups and local communities, including ethnic and faith-based 

groups and occupations 

● Support the work of the COVID-19 Health Equity Manchester Group and other activities 

to understand and address the differential impact of COVID-19 on individuals and 

communities within Manchester  

 

Lead:  Neil Bendel, (Public Health Specialist (Health Intelligence)) 

 

 

2. Increase access to and uptake of testing 

 

 
 

● Implement Manchester’s Community Testing Model for antigen testing of symptomatic 

residents to ensure that everyone who needs a test can get a test with a focus on: 

○ Further collaboration with Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT) to 

capitalise on Pillar One Testing arrangements and the deployment of the Manchester 

Local Care Organisation (MLC0) Swabbing Team to settings, with care homes 

remaining a priority; 

Page 16

Item 5Appendix 1,



3 
 

○ Ensuring capacity at the Etihad and Manchester Airport regional testing centres is 

utilised 

○ Continuing to maximise the use of the successful Mobile Testing Units (MTUs) at FC 

United and Ukrainian Centre (4 sessions of 3 days each planned in August) 

○ Establishing a number of fixed testing sites across the City that are accessible on foot 

and can be used for Mobile Testing Units (MTU) or Local Testing Site (LTS) walk-in 

models. Three sites have initially been identified for this purpose; Abraham Moss 

Leisure Centre, Central Retail Park, and Brownley Road Car Park (near Wythenshawe 

Forum and town centre). The sites are walking distance from areas with a high footfall 

and high density population, and they relate to Manchester’s high rate areas  

○ Identifying and approving a number of responsive testing sites across the city where 

Pop-Up Testing Units can be stood up quickly in response to a situation or outbreak. 

A long list of sites has already been identified and the short list will be based on; 

ensuring geographical coverage of the City; ensuring appropriate, culturally sensitive 

and effective access to BAME communities, faith groups and people with disabilities 

and, a mixture of indoor and outdoor provision 

○ Starting to develop a network of service providers who can provide swabbing in the 

longer-term as part of a mainstream approach to testing 

○ Establish testing kit storage facility at New Smithfield Market and arrange delivery 

system to settings and/or households when rapid deployment of swab kits is needed 

● Ensuring all Manchester’s residents know when and how to get a test as part of the 

community and engagement plan ( this is being done through a number of channels 

including GP text alerts, radio, social media and targeted community engagement) 

● Refine the approach to mass testing for non-healthcare settings during outbreaks based 

on lessons learnt from recent outbreaks 

● Extend whole care home testing rolling programme to other care facilities 

● Continue to encourage employers of essential workers to register with the employer 

portal for testing employees who are self-isolating. 

 

Leads:  Cordelle Mbeledogu (Consultant in Public Health Medicine), Sharon West (Population 

Health Programme Lead) 

 

3. Increase local contact tracing and environmental health capacity to respond to local 

outbreaks 

 

● Draw down resources from the Greater Manchester Hub and mutual aid from 

neighbouring boroughs and explore what additional contact tracing and data analyst 

capacity is required locally / at GM level to follow up index cases and contacts that have 

not been successfully contacted via the National system 

● Confirm which staff from other teams within City Council can assist with contact tracing 

and arrange training; 

● Look at agency staff to backfill posts in Environmental Health (EH) and look at Out of 

Hours (OOH) working enhancements for the EH contact tracing team to cover weekend 

working; 

Page 17

Item 5Appendix 1,



4 
 

● Continue to build on the excellent working relationship between EH  and the MLCO in 

situations where EH are dealing with a workplace situations, MLCO to do contact tracing 

if required to free up more time for EH to deal with the workplace and outbreak 

management      

● Ongoing engagement with stakeholders to secure support for the contact tracing process 

where additional help might be needed e.g. in specific settings or with complex cohorts; 

and carry out scenario planning for identified high risk locations. 

● Convene Outbreak Control Team (OCT) Meetings for significant outbreaks, building on 

the learning from care homes and other settings over the past six months 

 

Leads:  Sarah Doran (Consultant in Public Health, Health Protection), Sue Brown (Principal 

Environmental Health Officer), Diane Cordwell, Manager MLCO) 

4. Develop and implement community engagement plans for targeted work in specific areas 

and with specific groups 

 

● Community engagement plans will be developed for targeted work with geographically 

based communities (Medium Super Output Areas), as well as communities of identity or 

experience that have been identified as high risk or where data suggests new or emerging 

clusters of infection 

● Plans will include a mixture of universal and targeted communications, and more 

intensive engagement work to promote key public health messages, increase access and 

uptake of testing and build trust and rally the support of communities. 

● Health Development Co-ordinators and Integrated Neighbourhood Team Leads from the 

Manchester Local Care Organisation will work with Manchester City Council 

Neighbourhood Leads to deliver an agreed programme of activities supported by the 

VCSE, faith leaders, GP leaders and communities themselves. This will include 

○  face to face (socially distanced) conversations directly with households in areas with 

the highest transmission rates, supported with audio visual information and easy read 

written information.  

○ targeted engagement in local areas to raise awareness and understand issues being 

raised including local retailers, food establishments, transport links etc as appropriate  

for the area 

○ enabling and mobilising  locally trusted community groups and organisations to do 

the “door knocking” where possible  to facilitate engagement 

● Establishment of a Targeted Community Engagement Grant for COVID-19 Health Equity to 

enable voluntary and community groups to support the work of COVID-19 Health Equity 

Manchester 

○ support from targeted patrols from GMP/Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) 

 

This programme of work will be reported back to the Member Led Local Outbreak Engagement Sub 

Group chaired by Councillor Bev Craig, Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing. 

Leads:  Shefali Kapoor (Strategic Lead Neighbourhoods), Val Bayliss-Brideaux (Head of Engagement, 

Manchester Health and Care Commissioning), Cordelle Mbeledogu (Consultant in Public 

Health Medicine), Mark Edwards (Chief Operating Officer, MLCO) 

Page 18

Item 5Appendix 1,



5 
 

 

 

5. Further amplify key communication messages in relation to the new restrictions  

 

● With recent cases amongst young people (18-40) accounting for a significant proportion 

of our total number of cases, we are working on a GM wide plan aimed at this group of 

people for three targeted work streams. this will tie together with health messaging and 

be a concerted campaign across GM; 

● Enhance and sustain the well received communications work developed in the run up to 

Eid; 

● Specific targeted comms for the hospitality sector reinforcing their responsibility to 

ensure social distancing, no loud music, limiting contact with staff and consequences of 

having positive cases working with partners and business networks 

● Re-emphasise the original messaging around safe behaviours and that these all still apply 

● Working with public health and engagement colleagues we have designed sets of 

materials that can be dropped off at people’s homes in areas we need to address.  

○ The first is a printed leaflet with Easy Read -style icons that explains the key things to 

say safe (washing hands, wiping surfaces, social distancing, signs of virus and how to 

get a test). This is the leaflet that will be left with residents once they have been visited 

by neighbourhood teams. 

○ Second leaflet is for those homes where a home visit has not been possible. This 

leaflet is 2 pages. Page 1 is the same as above and then has a section outlining the  6 

key restriction points (not having people over to your home/ garden that you don’t 

live with; only socialise with people you live with, 2 households can meet outdoors in 

a park for example with social distancing etc) 

○ The third piece is a digital version of the messages from letter 1, which will be 

translated into 13 different languages and produced as a jpg. This is so that our 

community contacts can send them on via email or WhatsApp to their networks in the 

right language. 

● All these assets are at www.manchester.gov.uk/resourcehub for all partners and VCS 

groups to use. 

Additionally we hope that the teams making house visits will also be able to show or play the series of 

films we have already made in translated languages around staying well and key COVID-19 

information. These films are all on our online community resource hub. Feedback from our 

neighbourhood contacts is that this resource has worked really well and that they would like more 

materials added to it. 

This work on the 10 point plan will supplement the overall communications plan agreed in the COVID-

19 outbreak communication strategy, agreed at the Local Outbreak Engagement Sub Group of Health 

and Wellbeing Board. 

Leads:  Alun Ireland (Head of Strategic Communications), Penny Shannon (Communications 

Business Partner) 

  

Page 19

Item 5Appendix 1,

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/resourcehub


6 
 

 

6. Inform the hospitality sector on the new guidance and regulations when they are agreed 

 

● Joint operation between GMP and MCC Compliance and Enforcement Team to commence - 

this is happening on a weekly basis 

 

● Target enforcement action on premises who are repeatedly not complying with advice 
including the use of directions to close premises in the worst cases- directions have been used 
twice up to 14 August 2020 

 

Leads: Fiona Sharkey (Head of Compliance, Enforcement and Community Safety) 

7. Continue to support residents and patients who are clinically vulnerable and respond to 

the evolving guidance on shielding 

 

● Letter to all patients who are shielding was issued week commencing 20th July reiterating the 

government letter (i.e. pause of shielding on 31st July) but also reinforcing that local support 

is still available for those who need it 

● Text via GP rapid communications system going out to all shielded patients week commencing 

3rd August 2020 to clarify the restrictions 

● Follow up phone calls to take place with all those that were in receipt of support from 

government to understand support needs   

 

Leads:  Dr Manisha Kumar (Medical Director, Manchester Health and Care Commissioning 

8. Provide advice to organisers of events that were planned for August 

 

The following physical events that had been planned to take place in August have been cancelled. 

However virtual events will still take place for some (e.g Pride). 

● Manchester Caribbean Carnival; 

● VJ Day; 

● Manchester Pride 

 

Planning in place to develop the strategy beyond September. 

Leads:  Fiona Worrall (Strategic Director Neighbourhoods), Neil Fairlamb (Head of Parks, Leisure, 

Youth & Events) 

 

 

 

Page 20

Item 5Appendix 1,



7 
 

In addition, we are: 

● Working with key VCSE and community partners, GMP and others to support and help deliver 
key engagement messages and a draft statement is being prepared in relation to Pride 

● Creating appropriate materials partners can share on their networks and use with their 
contacts 

● Working with Ocean (digital signage across the city) to change messaging as required over the 
course of the weekend if parts of the city centre become busy 

● Working with media partners to spread the message outside of Manchester that no events 
will be taking place in the city to discourage people coming 

  
 

9. Plan now for the return of students and pupils to universities and schools in September 

 

Universities 

● Initial discussion at Student Strategy Partnership (SSP) meeting in July.  

● Pre-SSP meeting with Public Health, Universities and Neighbourhood Teams to take place on 

10th August 

● Action plan will be agreed with the Universities that will also include COVID-19 Secure 

accommodation arrangements; 

In addition we are: 

● Working with Universities to agree local outbreak management response processes and 
contact tracing arrangements 

● Securing a testing site near to the Universities to make it easier for students to get tested. One 
of the five proposed fixed Local Test Sites (LTS) in Manchester is walking distance from the 
main university campuses (Denmark Road). We are working to secure responsive sites across 
the City which will include sites specifically for use by students and staff if mass testing was 
required for an outbreak and/or evidence of increasing transmission among students. 

● Working to ensure systems are in place to support students to isolate with humanitarian 
support where required 

● Coordinating and leading a Greater Manchester meeting on 14th August to share COVID-19 
prevention and response work being undertaken in Manchester, Salford and Bolton and to 
coordinate joint work where appropriate 

● Working with GM and local comms leads and University comms leads to agree 
communications approach with students 

● Working with Manchester Student Homes particularly in relation to Off Campus 
accommodation and engagement with landlords 

Schools  

● Meetings taking place between the Education team, Public Health, and Contact Tracing Team 

to document robust pathways for responding to notifications of cases linked to schools setting 

and ensuring timely flow of information between Manchester and GM contact tracing hub. 

● Schools/settings will have step by step guidance on infection prevention and control and how 

to access support. 

Page 21

Item 5Appendix 1,



8 
 

● Plans to attend head teacher local meetings to answer questions on infection prevention and 

control and contact tracing process. 

● Public health will attend meetings with trade unions representing school staff in September 

to answer questions. 

● Schools have provided risk assessments for September - currently being reviewed by the MCC 

Health and Safety team. 

● Letter sent out via schools to parents/carers requesting that they support the measures 

schools will put in place to prevent infection. 

● FAQ about school attendance in September and measures schools will put in place to prevent 

infection translated into community languages and sent out via different channels. Part of a 

communication plan 

● Work progressing on expectations of schools regarding remote learning offer and continuity 

of education in the event of pupils being at home. 

 

Leads:  Amanda Corcoran (Director of Education), Fiona Worrall (Strategic Director 

Neighbourhoods) , Sarah Doran (Consultant in Public Health) 

 

10. Consider the suite of contain measures currently being developed for Greater Manchester 

and apply them as necessary to the local situation in Manchester, ensuring collaboration 

with adjacent authorities 

 

This section of the plan will be updated when the measures are agreed. The intention is to ensure that 

in advance of Autumn and Winter, planning and support work can take place with care homes and 

hospitals to minimise the pressure on these settings, alongside plans to prevent transmission in the 

community. 

Lead:  David Regan (Director of Public Health) 

Page 22

Item 5Appendix 1,



 
 

Manchester City Council 
Report for Information 

 
Report to: Health Scrutiny Committee – 1 September 2020 
 
Subject: Recovery of NHS services 
 
Report of: Manchester Health and Care Commissioning 
 Manchester Foundation Trust 
 Manchester Local Care Organisation 
 Greater Manchester Mental Health NHSFT 
 Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership 
 

 
Summary 
 
This paper provides an update on the reinstatement of NHS services following 
changes in service provision as a result of the impact of Covid-19. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the report. 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

Preventing ill health, and improving the health and 
wellbeing, of Manchester residents is a key element 
of the city’s Our Manchester Strategy. 
 
The NHS is the largest employer in the city of 
Manchester. The expertise required in NHS 
occupations brings talented people into the city to 
live and work. 
 

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

The paper describe the reinstatement of NHS services following the disruption caused 
by Covid-19. Some of these changes, for example the reduction in transport use as a 
result of an increased use of digital consultations, will have a positive impact on 
achieving the zero-carbon target for the city. 

Page 23

Item 6



 
 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

 
 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name: Nick Gomm 
Position: Director of Corporate Affairs, Manchester Health and Care Commissioning 
Telephone: 0161 213 1758 
E-mail: n.gomm@nhs.net  
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
Not applicable. 
 

Page 24

Item 6



 
 

1.0 Background / Introduction 
 
1.1 As a response to the emerging Covid-19 pandemic, NHS England and NHS 

Improvement (NHS E/I) declared a level 4 incident – meaning that the 
response was to be co-ordinated at a national level.  

 
1.2 Over the following months, NHS organisations have received a number of 
 letters from NHSE/I  leaders which have described the required actions for the 
 following phase of the response. These have set the context for the 
 local planning and delivery of health services and include: 
 

 On 2 March, a letter was received which described the organisational 
arrangements required for the initial response; 

 On 17 March, a letter was received describing the next steps of the 
NHS response with specific asks to: 

o Free up the maximum possible patient and critical care capacity 
o Prepare for, and respond to, the anticipated large numbers of 

Covid-19 patients who will need respiratory support. 
o Support staff, and maximise their availability 
o Play a full part in the wider population measures announced by 

the Government 
o Remove ‘burdens’, so as to facilitate the above 

 On 29 April, a letter was received describing Phase 2 of the response, 
including the re-establishment of urgent non-Covid19 services. 
 

1.3 On 31 July, a letter was received describing Phase 3 of the response, It 
 highlights 3 priorities: 
 

 Accelerating the return to near-normal levels of non-Covid health 
services, making full use of the capacity available in the ‘window of 
opportunity’ between now and winter 

 Preparation for winter demand pressures, alongside continuing 
vigilance in the light of further probable Covid spikes locally and 
possibly nationally. 

 Doing the above in a way that takes account of lessons learned during 
the first Covid peak; locks in beneficial changes; and explicitly tackles 
fundamental challenges including: support for our staff, and action on 
inequalities and prevention. 
 

1.4 This report summarises how different areas of the NHS are reinstating 
 services which were paused as a result of Covid-19 and in line with the 
 national guidance. It covers: 
 

 Hospital services (including Cancer) 
 Community health services 
 Mental health services 
 Dental services 
 GP practices 

 

Page 25

Item 6



 
 

 Representatives for each sector will attend the meeting to take comments and 
 answer questions from Committee members 
 
2.0 Acute Services (including Cancer) 
 
2.1 Manchester Foundation Trust (MFT) has established a COVID 19 Recovery 
  Programme that was activated in April 2020 following the national peak in  
  daily deaths on April 21st and subsequent rolling daily average decline, and 
  steady decline in the number of confirmed daily new coronavirus cases from 
  the 7th April. 
 
2.2 The Trust are currently in the Stabilisation Phase of Recovery, bringing  
  planned services back on stream and transforming them to meet the needs of 
  the post-COVID environment. It is anticipated that this phase will last till the 
  end of August 2020, followed by a period of gradual return to baseline activity 
  in an adapted environment. 

 
2.3 The programme has 17 work streams that take a Trust-wide perspective and 
  cover all aspects service delivery.  The aim of the programme is to ensure  
  optimum service delivery, as soon as possible, within a COVID safe  
  environment, ensuring that equalities and inclusion are at the heart of every 
  plan and decision made. 

 
2.4 Each work stream is led by one of the hospital CEOs or an Executive Director, 
 with support from the wider organisation at a clinical and managerial level.  A 
 comprehensive recovery plan has been developed to ensure:- 
 

- Alignment with national requirements as outlined in the Phase 3 letter and 
supporting implementation guidance 

- Services return to pre-COVID levels as soon as possible 
- We are prepared for winter 
- We learn from the experiences of the pandemic and embed changes that 

are truly transformational 
  
2.5 To date all clinical pathway workstreams (Elective Care, Urgent Care and 
 Flow, Cancer Services and Outpatient Services) have commenced their plans 
 at pace and report progress through the production of highlight reports to the 
 Trust’s COVID Recovery Group weekly meeting. Supporting workstreams 
 such as modelling and planning, workforce resilience, infection prevention and 
 control, and digital enablement are also well established and progressing. The 
 most recent workstream to be formed is focussing on Long Term Conditions. 
 This group is in the process of developing their priorities for focus. 
 
2.6 Below is a summary of service area recovery programme aims/objectives and 
 SMART goals:- 
 

Work 
stream 

Problem Statement Key Aims/Objectives/SMART Goals 

Urgent 
Care & 

Activity levels in 
emergency portals are at 

- Development and implementation 
of an Urgent Care Model by 

Page 26

Item 6



 
 

Work 
stream 

Problem Statement Key Aims/Objectives/SMART Goals 

Flow risk of returning to pre-
COVID levels ensuring 
that social distancing 
cannot be achieved 
increasing the risk of the 
continued spread of the 
virus 

September 2020 that provides 
high quality care, meets national 
and local urgent care standards 
and can manage capacity and 
activity in real time against a 
backdrop of variable demand 
arising from COVID 19 

- Non-life threatening but ‘ED 
appropriate’ patients will be 
assigned an appointment time to 
attend ED in order to level the 
demand and achieve social 
distancing 

- To deliver the UEC priorities 
identified by Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority by the end of 
Q2 2020 (CAS Development, MDT 
community-based response model 
for urgent 2hrs and same day, 
Streaming and SDEC model, 
Discharge to Assess)  

- Completion of measurement and 
evaluation by end of Q3 2020 

Elective 
Care 

The elective care 
programme faces a 
backlog of 7000 cancelled 
operations requiring 
clinical prioritisation; 
capacity to undertake the 
backlog and new referrals 
is made more challenging 
due to a greatly reduced 
level of capacity in 
theatres with potential for 
further disruption to staff 
levels due to ongoing 
COVID infection 

- Validate all waiting lists across 
MFT to ensure priority patients are 
identified and prioritised 
accordingly 

- Establish robust arrangements 
with Independent Sector partners 
to secure additional capacity at 
pace 

- Create a single MFT surgical hub 
to oversee the distribution of 
priority activity to available theatre 
capacity 

- Undertake a baseline theatre 
capacity exercise identifying 
theatre capacity and associated 
resources 

- Conduct a review of the peri-
operative, admission and post op 
phases of the surgical pathway to 
account for COVID impact 
including demand and capacity 
analysis 

- Review and agree elective 
standards to support maximum 
productivity and ensure best 

Page 27

Item 6



 
 

Work 
stream 

Problem Statement Key Aims/Objectives/SMART Goals 

practice 
- Link with Single Service work to 

accelerate implementation of the 
Clinical Strategies under the 
leadership of Joint Medical 
Director and Deputy CEO 

 

Outpatient 
Services  

Delivering outpatient 
services at the volumes 
previously delivered is no 
longer possible in light of 
COVID 19 and the 
requirement to socially 
distance  

- Asses current waiting lists and 
triage across MFT 

- Assess demand and capacity for 
necessary face to face 
appointments and appraise 
options for expansion of face to 
face capacity where shortfalls are 
identified 

- Develop and implement the Attend 
Anywhere offer for virtual 
appointments  

- Assess capacity for pharmacy and 
diagnostics support to outpatient 
service and model future demand 
in the new normal 

- Implement Advice & Guidance 
initially to priority services and 
locally across all services 

- Conduct a proof of concept 
exercise and agree roll out plan for 
both e-RS & non e-RS Triage 

- Review common high-volume 
pathways and implement a range 
of pathway specific improvements 

- Link with Single Service work to 
accelerate implementation of the 
Clinical Strategies under the 
leadership of Joint Medical 
Director and Deputy CEO   

 

Cancer 
Services 

Within the context of 
capacity constraints as a 
result of COVID, cancer 
services need to move to 
resumption of all routine 
and urgent services whilst 
at the same time 
improving performance 
under the Trust’s Cancer 
Excellence Programme 

- Recommence Endoscopy 
Services reviewing current W/L 
position agreeing clinical 
prioritisation and principles 

- Implement phase 1 of the RDC 
initiative on four cancer sites of 
Haematology, Gynae, OG and 
HBP 

- Commence Best Practice review 
of pathways and develop a set of 
improvements based on 

Page 28

Item 6



 
 

Work 
stream 

Problem Statement Key Aims/Objectives/SMART Goals 

innovation, standardisation and 
process improvement 

- Develop Advice & Guidance GP 
escalation route 

- Develop KPI dashboard  
 

 
3.  Community health services 
 

Service prioritisation  
 
3.1 As the Committee is aware Manchester Local Care Organisation is 
 responsible for the delivery of community health services and adult social care 
 in Manchester.  The following section provides an overview of how its health 
 services are returning to normal following the disruption caused by Covid; it 
 also sets out the process that it is following in re-establishing services. 
 
3.2 In March 2020, and in response to COVID-19, MLCO mobilised two work 
 streams to support a response to the anticipated increase in care required by 
 patients diagnosed with COVID 19.    
 
3.3 In line with guidance provided by NHS England/NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) 
 on 19th March 2020 MLCO were required to prioritise the delivery of its 
 community health services.  This guidance set out in detail those services 
 which were required to stop or partially stop with immediate effect.  The 
 process that was mobilised in MLCO was clinically led and overseen by the 
 Chief Medical Officer and Chief Nurse. 
 
3.4 For reference and completion, adult social care services adopted a similar 
 process, however its decision making processes were aligned to the delivery 
 of statutory responsibilities of Manchester City Council. 
 
3.5 As a result of the work to prioritise its community health services 755 clinical 
 staff of various disciplines were released from their usual duties in anticipation 
 of the increasing workload across six essential workstreams that had been 
 identified by NHSE/I: 
 

 District nursing 
 Palliative care  
 Therapy/rehabilitation 
 Crisis/Discharge to Assess (D2A) 
 Intravenous (IV) therapy 
 Safeguarding of adults and children 

  
3.6 The majority of the 755 staff that were released from their normal duties 
 required some retraining/refreshing of clinical skills/knowledge to support the 
 essential services.  MLCO held two training days for those individuals who 

Page 29

Item 6



 
 

 could be redeployed into adult services; with approximately 600 staff attending 
 the training at different sites across the city between 2 – 4th April 2020. 
 
3.7 As part of the redeployment of staff, MLCO also looked to support the wider 
 system pressures working in close collaboration with colleagues from 
 primary care, secondary care and social care. This enabled MLCO to adopt 
 digital technology to support GPs and care homes staff and others to "make 
 every contact count" and maximise the efficiency of services provided by 
 community staff whilst reducing unnecessary footfall and risk to patients and 
 residents where that was clinically appropriate and safe to do so. 
 
3.8 A comprehensive overview of stop, partially stop, and continue services is set 
 out below in Table 1: 
 

Table 1 

 
 
3.9 As a key part of this process, all stop and partial stop services continued to 
 dynamically review their caseloads to ensure that if patients move into ‘priority 
 one’ (visit/contact required) this was able to be actioned in a timely manner 
 and clinically led.  This enabled MLCO to prioritise those residents most in 
 need.  
 
3.10  Where it was necessary to discharge patients from an active caseload, advice 
 was provided to the patient/referrer with a process put in place to ensure that 
 as services return to normal those patient were added back into the caseload. 
 
3.11 This is consistent and in line with national policy and guidance.  Other services 
 maintained patients on an active caseload with regular reviews of the clinical 
 needs of the patients with an ability to move them through different priorities if 
 clinical need changes. All services were required to signpost patients to 
 alternative services/advice as appropriate 

Page 30

Item 6



 
 

 Leading recovery in the MLCO 
 
3.12 The safety of our staff and the people we support is paramount to the MLCO, 
 as such we are committed to reintroducing services in a structured way that 
 provides assurance that it is safe to do so.  
 
 As part of its recovery phase the reestablishment of services is a key priority.  
 This follows a multi-stage process that incorporates the following: 
 

 Reintroduction of services to support the needs of patients and 
residents in Manchester 

 Ensure that services have identified learning through Covid-19 as part 
of the delivery of any changes upon reintroduction. 

 Reintroduce services where national/regional/local guidance dictates. 
This may also introduce changed delivery models 

 Assess the impact on workforce within the service and where staff have 
been deployed to other teams 

 Assess the impact on residents and service users through the use of 
equality impact assessment methodology 

 Assess the impact of returning services to estates. Ensuring risk 
assessment and service models are adapted where required. 

 Ensure that that executive team are sighted/supportive on risks and 
issues as assessed through the above aims. 

 
3.13 As part of the process that has been mobilised 21 service groupings have 
 been identified to be reviewed across Manchester. By the 1st September 2020, 
 18 services have been assessed and services will have started in accordance 
 with their implementation plan. The remaining three services will be assessed 
 during September 2020. Therefore, all services will be reinstated by October 
 2020.  
 
3.14 The 18 services that have been through the process and subsequently 
 restarted are: 
 

1. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) Screening  
2. Bladder and Bowel Service 
3. Care Navigation 
4. Congenital Heart Disease service 
5. Community Nutrition team  
6. Day Services 
7. Diabetes 
8. District Nursing including Treatment Rooms 
9. Home Enteral Feeding 
10. Learning Disabilities 
11. Lower limb services 
12. Manchester Case Management 
13. Manchester Service for Independent Living (MSIL) 
14. Physiotherapy Inc. MSK 
15. Short breaks 
16. Sickle Cell 

Page 31

Item 6



 
 

17. Stoma 
18. Tier 2 Gynaecology 

 
3.15  The remaining services to be reviewed in September 2020 are: 
 

 Single Point of Access 
 Podiatry 
 Expert Patient Programme 

 
3.16 To support this process and to ensure that services can restart safely MLCO 
 have established a Recovery and Programme Board that oversees the 
 processes that support the reestablishment of services. This board is jointly 
 Chaired by the Chief Operating Officer and the Interim Director of Strategy for 
 the MLCO, and it has two principle functions: 
 
 Establish processes and assessment for the safe (re) introduction of services 
 across the MLCO and TLCO service 
 
 Provide a programme assurance for the delivery of our Operating Plan 
 Transformation programmes. These identified workstreams support our 
 longer-term goals. These are being reviewed considering the pandemic 
 response and our reorganisation of service deliver as defined by our 
 Operational Recovery programme. 
 
4.  Mental Health services 
   
 Beginning of lockdown period 
 
4.1 During the peak of the lockdown, there was a 30-40 per cent reduction in 
 mental health referrals across adult and children mental health services. 
 
4.2 Most mental health services across Manchester continued throughout the 
 lockdown. The main provider of adult mental health services, Greater 
 Manchester Mental Health Trust (GMMH) quickly adapted and focussed its 
 capacity on high priority critical services. These were the inpatient wards, 
 home based treatment services, and the mental health liaison teams based at 
 the three A and E sites in Manchester. 
 
4.3 Those services categorised as medium priority remained opened, such as 
 Community Mental Health Teams, Early Intervention in Psychosis, Perinatal 
 Services and Psychological Therapy services. All these community services 
 saw a significant change from face to face appointments to phone and video 
 appointment.  
 
4.4 However the Memory Assessment and Treatment Service (MATS) closed to 
 new routine referrals. Also the ‘No 93’ Health and Wellbeing Centre in North 
 Manchester was closed.   
 

Page 32

Item 6



 
 

4.5 GMMH established a Recovery Planning Group to ensure all services are able 
 to continue to deliver safe care in line with national guidance on social 
 distancing and infection prevention control (IPC). 
 
4.6 The specialist child and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) at 
 Manchester Foundation Trust continued to provide its services throughout the 
 pandemic, without the need to reduce any planned activity. The service was 
 able to quickly adapt by offering more telephone and video appointments. 
 Face to face appointments continued to be offered in line with social 
 distancing measures to the most vulnerable and risky young people. 
 
 Additional services in response to COVID 
 
4.7 By working with partners, GMMH were able to quickly set up a number of 
 additional services, such as 24/7 help line, Urgent Care Centres, Resilience 
 Hub, and Homelessness Service.  
 
4.8 A number of clinical staff had been redeployed into these additional services. 
 The Trust utilised staff currently shielding and working from home to support 
 these services. 
 
4.9 GMMH launched a 24 hour, seven day a week telephone helpline to provide 
 advice, guidance and support over the phone to anyone in Manchester. The 
 helpline is able to respond to urgent need and divert people in crisis from A&E. 
 People can now access specialist mental health support via the helpline and 
 the plan is to link the helpline to NHS 111 by March 2021. 
 
4.10 During the pandemic, Mental Health Emergency Centres and Hubs were 
 established in North, Central and South Manchester, to help provide 
 appropriate crisis care for mental health patients. These centres are located 
 out of A&E departments to reduce pressure on acute A&Es. 
 
4.11 Also a Resilience Hub has been implemented at GM level to provide mental 
 health and wellbeing support for wider NHS workforce, especially acute.  
 
 New ways of working  
 
4.12 The use of telephone and virtual consultations has allowed the majority of 
 mental health services to continue uninterrupted. All staff working in 
 psychological therapy services for example immediately transferred to 
 telephone and video platforms upon announcement of government lockdown. 
 
4.13 Community Mental Health Teams implemented a hybrid model of working. 
 This permitted safe working practices to be established, allowing a small 
 number of workers to attend the community base on a rota basis to support 
 core work that needed to take place in the community setting, with other staff 
 supported with IT capability to continue their work from home. 
 
4.14 Going forward, GMMH plan to deliver 40% of patient contact face to face, and 
 60% via telephone or remote video consultation. It is expected that there will 

Page 33

Item 6



 
 

 be an increase in productivity as a result of staff delivering services in this 
 way. 
 
4.15 Specialist CAMHS services updated their operational processes for outpatient 
 services to meet IPC and social distancing measures. Also remote 
 appointment guidance was issued to all clinical staff to help facilitate digital 
 interventions. 
 
4.16 Both adult and children mental health services recognise the need to consider 
 a person's preferred communication style and ensure alternatives to virtual are 
 available particularly for people with learning disabilities, older people, those 
 suffering from digital exclusion.  
 
4.17 For inpatient services at GMMH, IPC measures require all hospital staff to 
 wear face masks to reduce the risk of transmission in hospitals. This has 
 meant changes to current practices. The Trust has supplied sufficient supplies 
 of FFP2 masks to services and staff have quickly adhered to these 
 
 Recovery phase 
 
4.18 A significant rise in referrals is expected over the coming months, which is 
 forecast to peak in the autumn (30% increase compared to pre COVID level) 
 before stabilising in early 2021 with a predicted 15% increase in demand on 
 services. Specialist CAMHS are expecting a surge in demand following the 
 school holidays when children return to schools. The increase in demand will 
 also be combined with higher levels of acuity. 
 
4.19 Recovery plans are being developed to help mitigate the increase in demand 
 and ensure continued delivery of safe and effective services. As part of this, 
 work is underway to understand the impact of COVID for people with 
 protected characteristics. Both GMMH and Specialist CAMHS are committed 
 to ensuring that people who are more likely to be affected by COVID have 
 access and support from appropriate mental health services. 
 
4.20 CAMHS are developing a worst case scenario traffic light system to ensure 
 service continuity for those groups of children deemed vulnerable to mental 
 health (e.g. those known to the criminal youth justice system) or known priority 
 groups (e.g. eating disorders). This system being developed will be shared 
 with key stakeholders and would only be enacted if surge in demand outstrips 
 capacity/CAMHS resources. Also the service is starting to increase the 
 number of face to face appointments it can offer. 
 
4.21 To mitigate the expected increase in demand on hospital beds. GMMH is 
 working closely with partners to introduce alternatives to admission for adults 
 in crisis. This includes increasing staffing, particular during the night for Home 
 Based Treatment Services, and strengthening the access to overnight crisis 
 beds that are accessible outside office hours. Also the Trust is aiming to 
 release additional bed capacity by focussed work to reducing DTOC levels to 
 the national benchmark of 3.8% and reducing length of stay in hospital.  

Page 34

Item 6



 
 

4.22 The continuation of the additional services set up during the lockdown phase 
 and the implementation of new working practices such as providing 60% of 
 patient contact via telephone or video consultation will help mitigate demand in 
 the community.  
 
4.23 Providers have started implementing the requirements of the phase three 
 guidance, which includes fully restoring Improving Access to Psychological 
 Therapies services and proactively reviewing all patients on community mental 
 health teams’ caseloads.  
 
4.24 The MATS which was closed to new referrals during lockdown returned to a 
 fully operational service from mid-June. 
 
4.25 Meeting the expected increase in demand for mental health services will also 
 require partnership working from across the health and care system, and 
 beyond.  The pandemic has allowed greater partnership working and more 
 freedom to implement new services quickly such as the 24/7 helpline. Going 
 forward, strengthening the relationship with the voluntary and community 
 sector will prove vital.  
 
4.26 The third sector is already experiencing an increase in demand from people 
 requiring low level psychosocial support such as help with housing, 
 employment, debt and personal relationships. If social issues become 
 entrenched for a large section of the population, there is a risk that low level 
 mental health needs become more serious and more specialist care will be 
 required. 
 
5. Dental Services 
 

Background 
 
5.1 On 25 March 2020, dental practices received national instruction to suspend 
 routine, non-urgent dental care as part of the national response to limit 
 transmission of COVID-19. 
 
5.2 Further to the national guidance by the Chief Dental Officer on 28th May 2020, 
 practices have been recommencing face to face treatment for patients if it is 
 safe to do so. 100% of dental practices across Manchester, indeed across 
 Greater Manchester, have now confirmed that they are delivering face to face 
 treatment for patients.  
 

Current service provision 
 
5.3 Assurance returns have been received from all Greater Manchester dental 
 practices in respect to their ability to resume services in a safe manner. 
 Manchester currently has a higher proportion of practices able to deliver more 
 comprehensive care than comparison position across Greater Manchester. 
 This position is indicated in Table 1. 
 

Page 35

Item 6



 
 

 Table 1. Manchester Dental practices recovery position (numbers of 
 providers and % of local provision), compared to Greater Manchester 
 position 
 

Checklist 
Update Manchester 

% of 
providers 

 Greater 
Manchester 

% of 
providers 

Level 0 0 0%  0 0% 

Level 1 37 51%  226 58% 

Level 2 17 24%  84 21% 

Level 3 18 25%  83 21% 

Number of 
Providers / Sites 72 

  393  

 
 Legend: 
 Level 0 - Practice is unable to open for any face to face contact  
 Level 1 - Practice able to see own urgent patients and offer some face to face 
 assessment and simple (non AGP) care. 
 Level 2 - Practice able to see some other priority patients – those under 
 treatment or vulnerable groups (still non AGP) 
 Level 3 – Practice able to offer comprehensive service including AGP.   
 
5.4 Primary dental care services available to patients in Manchester: 
 

 18 practices can provide the full range of routine dental care including 
aerosol generating procedures (AGP) e.g. surgical dental extractions 
and interventions that require a high-speed handpiece and so are not 
restricted in treatment options. 

 54 practices are delivering face to face treatment but are restricted in 
providing non-aerosol generating procedures (non-AGP) e.g. 
prevention, Orthodontics, dentures, simple dental extractions, caries 
removal with hand instruments or slow handpieces and so currently 
cannot deliver the full range of treatment options.  

 Referral arrangements are in place into 92 Urgent Dental Care (UDC) 
sites to meet the needs of any patients of practices currently restricted 
in their delivery.  

 
 Specialist dental care 
 
5.5 Similar to primary dental care services, COVID-19 has significantly impacted 
 the capacity of specialist dental care providers. Providers responded during 
 the period by prioritising of patient access for urgent treatment needs, 
 providing advice and support to patients and primary care for other matters. 
 

Progressing improvement  
 
5.6 Key matters preventing providers from being able to deliver full range of 
 treatments appear to fall within three areas: 
 
5.7 PPE & Fit-test training 

Page 36

Item 6



 
 

 Across GM the Local Resilience Forum and PPE cell have successfully 
 developed responsive support arrangements around the supply of PPE. This 
 has included provision of FFP3 masks to address risks associated with AGP 
 activity. However, the use of FFP3 requires specific fitting for effective use. 
 Initial training for UDCs was delivered by SRFT. However, capacity to deliver 
 the required training for all dental practices has been a limiting factor. 
 
 Working with HEE, GM dental commissioners and the LDCs have established 
 a local model based on the national guidance. Delivery of this Fit Test Training 
 for all Dental Practice staff is currently in roll-out across GM. This is 
 supplemented with access to training to become a Fit Test Trainer to ensure 
 sustainable local management of the use of required specialist PPE. This 
 development is in addition to the roll-out of national arrangements. 
 
 There have been some reports that independent/private providers of dental 
 services are passing on the cost of PPE to patients through an additional 
 charge. For NHS services, the only charges would be national patient charges 
 levied to fee-paying patients. 
 
5.8 Identified Staff Risks 
 
 A number of practices have reported limitations on delivery due to identified 
 staff risk and shielding arrangements. All primary care providers are requested 
 to undertake workforce risk assessment, with uptake being reported from 
 dental practices. 

 
Planning and Recovery 

 
5.9 Dental commissioners and Consultants in Dental Public Health are developing 
 a Roadmap to Recovery. This plan outlines the stages leading to recovery 
 for dental services across the whole system. The purpose is to standardise the 
 approach across Greater Manchester to strategically plan a range of dental 
 services, to support opportunities for locally responsive transformational 
 change, reducing health inequalities.  
 
5.10 Secondary care providers have reported their own recovery plans for dental 
 services. These are being reviewed and triangulated to provide a whole 
 system picture, including interface and dependencies upon primary and 
 specialist community dental services recovery. 
 Phase 3 planning requirements for the NHS in response to COVID-19 require 
 both ongoing COVID-19 management and a move to the NHS being open for 
 business.  
 
5.11 The purpose of Phase 3, planned to take place between August 2020 to 
 March 2021, is to: 
 
 Ensure capacity is in place for on-going activity  
 

 From 20th July, all dental practices will maintain virtual consultation and 
risk management and be able to deliver face to face interventions with 

Page 37

Item 6



 
 

a focus on the management of urgent cases and the stabilisation of oral 
health. 

 100% of practices are open to provide face to face treatment for 
patients. 

 Retain Urgent Dental Centres remain in place across Greater 
Manchester. 

 However it is to be acknowledged that there is a reduction in capacity in 
light of Infection Control Procedures and PPE constraints. Reduction in 
capacity to treat patients estimated to be 70%. This will also affect 
secondary care services.  
 

 Return critical services to agreed standards 
 

 All services will be delivered in accordance with national Standard 
Operating Procedures 

 Considerations in relation to Infection Prevention Control for all services 
 Work is underway with Dental Managed Clinical Networks and 

Secondary Care Providers, including the University Dental Hospital, 
MFT, to re-establish pathways between primary and secondary care. 
 

 Address backlog of services 
 

 Commissioners are working with secondary care providers to ensure 
access is available across systems and ensure restoration does not 
widen health  inequalities. 

 Reopening referrals for specialty care, including domiciliary provision. 
 Whole systems approach working through Managed Clinical Networks 

for dental specialties across Greater Manchester. 
 Prioritisation will be based on urgent dental care provision by practices, 

vulnerable patients and those patients part way through treatments 
(stabilisation); any remaining capacity will include routine care.  
 

 Work has been initiated to capture lessons learnt across the North West and 
 capture innovation and beneficial changes within recovery plans for dental 
 services.  
 

Community & Paediatric Dentistry  
 
5.12 A particular focus for recovery of specialist dental services is that of 
 community and paediatric dentistry. The waiting times for paediatric dental 
 treatment under general anaesthetic was a challenge prior to COVID-19 and 
 this position has been further exacerbated during the pandemic period.  
 
5.13 A recovery group for these dental services has been established with an 
 opportunity to consider ‘new normal’ ways of working alongside the 
 resumption of paediatric dental services provided by community and primary 
 care services. This working group will explore operational aspects of service 
 recovery with the aim of having a consistent approach to recovering 
 community and primary care paediatric dental services in Greater Manchester, 

Page 38

Item 6



 
 

 developing practical guidance for both for managing patients appropriately 
 post COVID-19 and identifying opportunities for improving patient experience. 
 
5.14 Themes for this recovery group are: 
 

 Reviewing current and planned capacity for face to face service 
delivery across GM and proposed timescales for recovery. 

 Understanding the impact of new ways of working on capacity. 
 Management of patient flows – given that operating procedures will 

significantly change numbers accessing face to face clinical care 
including dental GA provision: 

 Managing patients requiring clinical care 
 Improving the patient and local community experience (‘building back 

better’) 
 

Retain positive changes and innovations from the pandemic 
 
5.15 Primary care has rapidly transformed in response to COVID-19 across all 
 contractor groups, including Dental. There has been a move to remote models 
 of access and care delivery and positive changes to how services operate and 
 are delivered. Many of the innovations are likely to be sustainable and could 
 be expanded where appropriate.  It will be necessary to ascertain that these 
 innovations do not adversely impact on some of our patient population and do 
 not contribute to widening health inequalities. Details of innovations which it 
 would be considered beneficial to keep are described in the table below:. 
 
 
  

Page 39

Item 6



 
 

 

Innovation to be 
retained 

Risks Barriers to 
embedding 
innovation  

Mitigation 

1.  Service Development 

Virtual consultation 
and triage 
implemented across all 
primary and acute 
dental services to 
manage patients in 
urgent need, prioritise 
patients referred and 
to treatment plan. 

Unable to deliver 
services to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities.  

Access to tech by 
patients and 
variations across 
systems limit 
utility. 

Digital Plan across 
GM to standardise 
delivery and 
technical capabilities 
of staff. 

Further development 
of the Referral 
management system 
to triage and direct 
urgent referrals to the 
Urgent Care Hubs 
alongside the 
development of the 
Urgent Care DOS  

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
deliver services 
to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities. 
Second phase of 
localised 
lockdowns. 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry. 
Availability of 
PPE and FTT. 

Recovery plan in 
development to 
explore delivery of 
services across the 
whole system. 
Ongoing 
development of FTT 
and increasing 
stability of PPE 
delivery. 

Refresh oral health 
improvement 
programme in dental 
services (Healthy 
Living Dentistry) to 
focus on prevention 
and virtual delivery 

Lack of access 
to training and 
development will 
lead to Practices 
not being able to 
offer a range of 
services to 
patients.  
Failure of 
practices to 
deliver 
programme due 
to lack of 
capacity 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry. 
Availability of 
PPE and FTT. 

Continue to work 
with the national 
team and support 
the LDC and LDNs. 
Seek clarity on 
abatement and 
flexible 
commissioning. 
Ongoing 
development of FTT 
and increasing 
stability of PPE 
delivery. 

Community & 
Paediatric Dentistry 
(Recovery Cell) focus 
on improving access to 
dental services and 
oral health 
improvement to 
children through 
service development 
across the whole 
system 

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
deliver services 
to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry in acute 
and primary care 
settings. 
Availability of 
PPE and FTT.  

Whole systems 
recovery plan to 
develop model with 
training and 
workforce 
development that 
sits within preventive 
paradigm e.g. child 
friendly dental 
practices. 

Page 40

Item 6



 
 

Innovation to be 
retained 

Risks Barriers to 
embedding 
innovation  

Mitigation 

Standardised 
approach to MCNs to 
step up to recovery 
plans working with the 
LDNs.  Reviewing 
membership of groups 
to include 
representatives from 
the whole dental team 
including FTs, DNs, 
Therapists, etc  

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
assure quality of 
services that to 
meet population 
need and 
address 
inequalities 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry in acute 
and primary care 
settings.  

Whole systems 
recovery plan to 
develop model with 
training and 
workforce 
development 

Oral Health 
improvement 
Transformation 
programme use of 
alternative methods of 
delivery i.e. tooth 
brushing packs 
delivered through 
VSCO rather than 
schools 

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
assure quality of 
services and 
address 
inequalities 

Lack of staff due 
to redeployment  

Centralised 
management and 
working across 
systems to ensure 
capacity within 
remaining workforce 

Nightingale - 
developed a training 
pack for acute sector 
workers to deliver 
basic oral health care 
for inpatients 

Lack of buy in 
from acute 
sector and failure 
to roll out across 
acute sector 

Capacity within 
system to deliver 
due to competing 
demands 

Identified training 
need and have 
developed robust 
well-evaluated 
online package of 
training. Opportunity 
now to embed in 
recovery plans 
within acute sector 
now. 

2. Training Development & Research 

In partnership with 
HEE, PHE and NHSEI 
compiled a programme 
of virtual learning for 
dental teams to 
support the delivery of 
urgent dental care 
during the coronavirus 
pandemic. Hosted on 
the GM Training Hub, 
the remit of the work 
has expanded to meet 
the educational needs 
of the multi-disciplinary 
primary care team 

Lack of 
continuous 
support from all 
sectors to keep 
the site up to 
date and 
relevant.  

Lack of funding, 
lack of staff.  
Availability and 
functionality of 
the digital 
platform. 
Technical skills 
within team to 
develop. 

Continue to meet 
with the aim to 
further develop the 
Hub.   Potential Joint 
funding proposal to 
support the digital 
system.  Work with 
MCNs to ensure that 
they are utilising this 
platform to promote 
all training and 
development.   

Page 41

Item 6



 
 

Innovation to be 
retained 

Risks Barriers to 
embedding 
innovation  

Mitigation 

delivering oral health 
improvement activity 
and bring together 
NHS organisations, 
community providers 
and local authorities 
on a North West 
footprint.   

Localised development 
and delivery of Fit Test 
Training for ALL 
Dental Practice staff.  
Plus, access to 
training to become a 
Fit Test Trainer. 

Failure to 
support the GM 
system by the 
dental workforce 

Limited access to 
training and 
development will 
lead to Practices 
not being able to 
offer a range of 
services to 
patients  

Continue to work 
with the GM LDC 
Fed to support the 
training and ensure 
it is offered to all.   

Collaboration with 
University of 
Manchester to 
evaluate delivery of 
dental services 
including urgent dental 
care, prescribing, 
patient experience and 
resilience of dental 
practices 

Failure to 
implement 
lessons learned. 
 
Research 
funding bid 
unsuccessful. 

Lack of data to 
substantiate 
learning from 
evaluation,  

High-level buy-in to 
support 
implementation of 
lessons now and 
meaningful outcome 
focused evaluation. 
Evaluation built into 
service development 
now to support 
longer-term 
evaluation (Tableau 
and activity capture). 
Develop team 
skillset to evaluate 
and implement 
lessons learned if 
academic funding 
unsuccessful. 

Package of support for 
UDC system and 
dental services in 
recovery including 
Practice Level SOPs 
for UDCs and training 
videos by Dental staff 
shared across the 
system 
 
 
 

Fail to develop 
and continue to 
deliver services 
to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities  

Lack of clarity 
regarding 
abatement and 
contract 
monitoring for 
UDCs.  National 
information not 
clear. 

Continue to work 
with the national 
team, access the 
BDA information and 
support the LDC and 
LDNs 

Page 42

Item 6



 
 

Innovation to be 
retained 

Risks Barriers to 
embedding 
innovation  

Mitigation 

1.  Service Development 

Virtual consultation 
and triage 
implemented across all 
primary and acute 
dental services to 
manage patients in 
urgent need, prioritise 
patients referred and 
to treatment plan. 

Unable to deliver 
services to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities.  

Access to tech by 
patients and 
variations across 
systems limit 
utility. 

Digital Plan across 
GM to standardise 
delivery and 
technical capabilities 
of staff. 

Further development 
of the Referral 
management system 
to triage and direct 
urgent referrals to the 
Urgent Care Hubs 
alongside the 
development of the 
Urgent Care DOS  

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
deliver services 
to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities. 
Second phase of 
localised 
lockdowns. 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry. 
Availability of 
PPE and FTT. 

Recovery plan in 
development to 
explore delivery of 
services across the 
whole system. 
Ongoing 
development of FTT 
and increasing 
stability of PPE 
delivery. 

Refresh oral health 
improvement 
programme in dental 
services (Healthy 
Living Dentistry) to 
focus on prevention 
and virtual delivery 

Lack of access 
to training and 
development will 
lead to Practices 
not being able to 
offer a range of 
services to 
patients.  
Failure of 
practices to 
deliver 
programme due 
to lack of 
capacity 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry. 
Availability of 
PPE and FTT. 

Continue to work 
with the national 
team and support 
the LDC and LDNs. 
Seek clarity on 
abatement and 
flexible 
commissioning. 
Ongoing 
development of FTT 
and increasing 
stability of PPE 
delivery. 

Community & 
Paediatric Dentistry 
(Recovery Cell) focus 
on improving access to 
dental services and 
oral health 
improvement to 
children through 
service development 
across the whole 
system 

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
deliver services 
to meet 
population need 
and address 
inequalities 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry in acute 
and primary care 
settings. 
Availability of 
PPE and FTT.  

Whole systems 
recovery plan to 
develop model with 
training and 
workforce 
development that 
sits within preventive 
paradigm e.g. child 
friendly dental 
practices. 

Page 43

Item 6



 
 

Innovation to be 
retained 

Risks Barriers to 
embedding 
innovation  

Mitigation 

Standardised 
approach to MCNs to 
step up to recovery 
plans working with the 
LDNs.  Reviewing 
membership of groups 
to include 
representatives from 
the whole dental team 
including FTs, DNs, 
Therapists, etc  

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
assure quality of 
services that to 
meet population 
need and 
address 
inequalities 

Capacity within 
system due to 
limited availability 
of sites delivering 
face to face 
dentistry in acute 
and primary care 
settings.  

Whole systems 
recovery plan to 
develop model with 
training and 
workforce 
development 

Oral Health 
improvement 
Transformation 
programme use of 
alternative methods of 
delivery i.e. tooth 
brushing packs 
delivered through 
VSCO rather than 
schools 

Fail to develop 
and unable to 
assure quality of 
services and 
address 
inequalities 

Lack of staff due 
to redeployment  

Centralised 
management and 
working across 
systems to ensure 
capacity within 
remaining workforce 

Nightingale - 
developed a training 
pack for acute sector 
workers to deliver 
basic oral health care 
for inpatients 

Lack of buy in 
from acute 
sector and failure 
to roll out across 
acute sector 

Capacity within 
system to deliver 
due to competing 
demands 

Identified training 
need and have 
developed robust 
well-evaluated 
online package of 
training. Opportunity 
now to embed in 
recovery plans 
within acute sector 
now. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44

Item 6



 
 

6. Primary Care (GP practices) 
 
6.1 Introduction 
  
 This Primary Care update is framed by the COVID -19 Pandemic. It is written 
 at a time where we are passing the peak but need to keep vigilant about any 
 potential second wave.  The Manchester health system focus is currently on 
 understanding immediate needs, planning our services in relation to “the new 
 normal” and “building back better”.  We are maintaining the essential 
 objectives around population health and that existed prior to the Covid-19 
 Pandemic, establishing a clear understanding of the progress made, learning 
 from the challenges that have been encountered and the innovations that 
 have been key to a successful response, as we establish a path for the weeks, 
 months and years ahead. 
 
6.2 Whilst acute health activity has changed during Covid-19, delivery of primary 
 health care services has also changed radically. This period has seen an 
 unprecedented level of pressure being placed on the primary health care 
 system. Primary Care has worked tirelessly to ensure that business continuity 
 has been sustained against a backdrop of Covid-19 concerns, workforce 
 pressures, the need to continue to provide responsive primary care to all 
 patients, in particular vulnerable patients.  This has been set against a 
 continually changing regulatory and guidance backdrop. 
 
6.3 Positive collaboration has been happening right across the city to ensure 
 patients are able to continue to access and receive safe, high quality primary 
 care and ensure that primary care remained ‘open for business’ during the 
 course of the pandemic. Primary care is now experiencing significantly 
 increased demand and operating a ‘new normal’ way of working  
 
6.4 Whilst it is important that ‘Business as Usual’ has been achieved in primary 
 care we have also seen rapid transformation. The period between March and 
 August has seen the development and implementation of a number of new 
 services, new pathways, new workforce models and a significant level of 
 progress around ensuring practices are digitally enabled to deliver care 
 differently   
 
6.5 A large proportion of Primary Care activity has moved to a telephone and 
 online consultation model following a move to a nationally mandated ‘Triage 
 First’ approach within general practice. Further details of this approach can be 
 found in Section 4. 
  
6.6 MHCC has coordinated a number of priority response work streams; 
 supporting vulnerable patients, hot hubs (for people with Covid symptoms) & 
 cold hubs (additional capacity for practices to support resilience), proactive 
 and reactive support to care homes, digital, testing, medicines optimisation, 
 palliative care, workforce, and estates. 
 
  
  

Page 45

Item 6



 
 

 Background  
 
6.7 In March 2020 in line with national Covid-19 guidance, a review was quickly 
 undertaken to understand national guidance requirements, and in particular on 
 access requirements and which primary care services should be ‘paused’ to 
 enable resource to be targeted in response to the Covid 19 pandemic.  The 
 position of primary care being available to all needed to be maintained but 
 also allow for a focus on the immediate health crisis and support to the 
 resilience of the NHS as a whole. 
 
6.8 Daily communications to support rapid transformation were initiated.   
 
6.9 To support a change in priorities and funding flow to support the sector and 
 the immediate Covid-19 response - MHCC commissioners launched an initial 
 Covid-19 ‘standard’ in March 2020. 
 
 Current position and overview of work streams  
 
6.10 A significant amount of change has been delivered in such a short amount of 
 time. The immediate Covid-19 Standard response is a good example of a 
 rapidly mobilised programme of work, which provided a significant amount of 
 system assurance, and created the conditions for a subsequent strategic 
 medium and long term Covid-19 response by Primary Care. 
 
6.11    MHCC rapidly established the Covid-19 standard which asked practices to 
 undertake a range of urgent work in advance of the expected increase in 
 activity in the event of a Covid-19 peak. Examples of this work included: 
 

 Business Continuity Planning work 
This included staff risk assessments, full involvement with Primary Care 
‘Sit Rep’ reporting to ensure issues were flagged to MHCC as quickly 
as possible, and to ensure that Business Continuity Plans were 
updated in advance of the Covid peak. 

 Ensure that practices were set up for remote working 
Every practice was given a supply of laptops so staff can work remotely 
to ensure social distancing within general practice, and to maximise the 
number of patients who can have a ‘virtual’ consultation.  A range of 
remote working applications were quickly commissioned and rolled out 
to practices. 

 Move to a ‘telephone triage first’ approach 
To ensure patient and staff safety all 85 Manchester GP practices 
moved to a telephone triage first approach, with patients routinely 
offered same day telephone consultations   Urgent patients would 
continue to be brought into practice for face to face appointments 
where necessary. 

 Adoption of online and video consultation models 
MHCC asked all practices to have an online consultation system in 
place that supports the total triage model.  All practices quickly adopted 
text based online consultation software and rolled them out for patients 
providing rapid and targeted communication. All practices are now 

Page 46

Item 6



 
 

offering video consultations, and MHCC has commissioned the support 
of Redmoor Health to accelerate the training and uptake by all 
clinicians.  

 Making safe adjustments for ‘face to face’ appointments 
In addition to the total triage approach highlighted above, MHCC 
required practices to use PPE in line with national guidance and report 
any Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) gaps via the Primary Care 
Sit Rep system. Practices were also required to undertake estates 
changes to maximise social distancing between staff and patients. 
Practices were asked to ‘zone’ their building to allow safe patient flow. 

 Practices encouraged to undertake proactive communications with 
patients 
This involved all practices updating websites, undertaking regular social 
media messaging, and direct patient messaging via the MJOG system 
where required and commissioned for those practices that did not 
already have this system in place.  Additional assurance checks 
ensured practices adhered to translation requirements from patients, 
and that patient communication met Accessible Information Standards. 
Interpretation and translation services were quickly adapted to enable 
video consulting for patients whose first language is not English.  

 Practices to contact vulnerable / clinically at risk 
Practices were required to validate the ‘shielded’ patient lists and 
contact patients to identify any additional support needs that they had. 
The aim of shielding is to protect people who are clinically extremely 
vulnerable from COVID-19. The definition of high risk is based on Chief 
Medical Officer clinical criteria and a period of self-isolation was 
required, initially to the 30 June 2020 and then extended to 1 August 
2020.  

  In the next phase of Covid-19 response, Primary Care was asked to 
  ensure safe access to healthcare and medications for this group and 
  provide proactive care and support.  A collaborative system response 
  allowed patients a holistic approach to managing their health during 
  shielding. We have continued to offer support following changes in  
  national arrangements both in terms of readjustment, access to food 
  and the mental health impact of shielding. 
 
  The shielded group in Manchester as at 19th August 2020 

Manchester (total) 20,595 

North 7,528 

Central 6,695 

South 6,372 

Children 1,323 

 Practices to increase the number of appointments that practices must 
make available for direct booking by NHS 111  
Practices were required to make available a minimum of 1 appointment 
per 500 patients each day for direct booking from NHS 111. 

 Continue to immunise adults and children where appropriate 
Practices were asked to follow Covid immunisation guidance circulated 
including Royal College of Nursing (RCN) guidance for maintaining the 
National Immunisation Schedule during Covid 19. 

Page 47

Item 6



 
 

 Continue to make urgent referrals for patients showing symptoms 
Practices were informed w/c 30th March that routine cervical screening 
for those patients who are asymptomatic had been paused.  MHCC 
was clear that cervical screening is not a diagnostic test for 
investigating symptoms, such as irregular bleeding and any urgent 
referral for these patients must continue to be made. 

 Continue to ensure Safeguarding processes are in place 
With increased barriers to accessing care it remained paramount to 
emphasise safeguarding risk and to continue with appropriate 
safeguarding training. 

 
 Continued Covid-19 initiatives during 2020/21 
 
6.12 Following the successful roll out of the Covid Primary Care Standard, Primary 
 Care and clinical leaders across the city developed a comprehensive 
 response structure which led to the agreement and further acceleration of the 
 following key work streams:-  
 

 Information Technology and Information Governance 
 Medicines Optimisation 
 Care Homes 
 Primary Care Situation Reporting (SitRep) 
 National and Local Guidance 
 COVID-19 Assessment pathway 
 Hot Hubs 
 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
 Workforce 
 Communications Support 
 The Best Way 
 2020/21 Flu Response Planning 
 Manchester Primary Care Standards 2020/21 - including the new 

Covid-19 standard. 
 

 Information Technology and Information Governance 
 
6.13 All of the work, innovation and progress has been achieved as the result of the 
 hard work done in practice (or remotely) by primary care and has only been 
 possible as result of the dedicated and collaborative approach between 
 Primary care as a system and the multiple directorates in Manchester Health 
 and Care Commissioning and colleagues in Manchester Local Care 
 Organisation, Greater Manchester Shared Services, Greater Manchester 
 Health and Social Care Partnership, Health Innovation Manchester and 
 voluntary community and social enterprises (VCSE). 
 
6.14 Professionals and the public have taken to remote working and online 
 communication at scale and the rapid delivery of hardware and software has 
 enabled a significant number of the workforce to work from home, and a great 
 deal of clinical care to be provided without the need for face to face 
 encounters. 
 

Page 48

Item 6



 
 

6.15 General Practice in Manchester has made rapid progress in relation to the use 
 of digital first approaches in response to the national pandemic. Software 
 deployment that would have been rolled out over a period of months has been 
 taken up very quickly enabling practices to communicate with people in new 
 ways: video, text chat, to share photographs and respond to questionnaires. 
 Using these new methods of contact has reduced the dependency on 
 telephones and reducing queues at the reception desk, in turn to reduce the 
 risk to staff. This approach has also enabled staff to work from home, further 
 reducing social contacts.  
 
6.16 Inclusion is at the heart of Manchester’s vision and values. These changes 
 with regards to how services are being delivered have happened at pace and 
 there are, as yet, unrecognised impacts and barriers that will have been 
 created. Our services need to continue to be assessed in relation to the 
 impact of these changes on equality, with specific considerations such as 
 spoken language, disability, digital literacy, literacy and digital poverty. 
 
 Agile working  
 
6.17 Covid-19 created the immediate need for agile working at scale, for 
 outreaching the capacity of local commissioning support services both in 
 supply of hardware (Laptops) and the ability to support remote access using 
 software.  
 
6.18 Immediate pressures have been met as best as possible with supply of 
 laptops to approximately 25% of the primary care workforce. For others 
 remote access is being provided using their own computers, using software to 
 gain access back to practice computers. Whilst these solutions have provided 
 some limited business continuity, they lack the ability to support the diversity 
 of software that primary care staff needs to perform their jobs as normal.  
 
6.19 To achieve our aim of 100% of staff being able to work in an agile way 
 (including locums) we need to establish a longer term strategy considering 
 potential approaches which could include a gradual replacement of the 
 majority of desktop computers with laptops as part of a the hardware refresh 
 program of work, using cloud based computers, or a mixture of both. This will 
 be captured in the longer-term strategy.  
 
 Medicines Optimisation  
 
6.20 Palliative Care - With system-wide support, including Manchester’s palliative 
 care consultants, the team has developed end of life guidance and medicines 
 stock lists to support Manchester to deliver evidence based treatment for 
 patients. The team has also commissioned an extra 5 community pharmacies 
 to hold specific end of life stock, bringing the total to 12 across the city.  
 
6.21 Medicines Delivery Services - The Medicines Optimisation Team are working 
 closely with the Manchester Community Response Hub and Manchester Local 
 Care Organisation (MLCO) to develop a system that ensures all patients in 
 Manchester get access to their medicines in the timeframe required. Currently, 

Page 49

Item 6



 
 

 the Medicines Optimisation Team is supporting the review and the 
 coordination of all medicines deliveries sent by the hub. This includes, at the 
 weekend and over the bank holidays to ensure all patients have their 
 medicines in a timely manner.  
 
 6.22 Deployment - The Medicines Optimisation team are deployed across the 
 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to provide medicines optimisation support. 
 Each PCN pharmacy team is working closely with their clinical director to 
 identify and deliver on priority work streams to ensure patients are fully 
 supported with managing their medicines. 
 
 Examples of priority areas include: 
 

 Rationalisation of monitoring for high risk medicines  
 Increasing uptake of pharmacy nominations and to reduce footfall 
 Medicines reviews 
 Rapid discharge medicines reconciliation 
 Supporting transfer of care 

 
6.23 In the future, the team will be supporting practices to roll out EPS (Electronic 
 Prescription Service) phase 4 including consideration of complicating factors 
 and supporting clinical work streams including advanced care planning, COPD 
 and asthma reviews. 
 
6.24 The Medicines Enquiry Line remains open to support General Practice and the 
 team are also actively developing guidance to ensure primary care is fully 
 informed of new and emerging medicines related evidence. 
 
 Care Homes 
 
6.25 In April 2020, Manchester Health and Care Commissioning (MHCC) worked 
 together with system partners to rapidly develop an urgent care pathway to 
 meet the needs of care homes. The three existing care home services have 
 been expanded to provide system resilience and ensure delivery against the 
 urgent care pathway. It is designed to meet the following requirements: 
 

 Single point of access 
 Video/Telephone consultation enabled 
 Clinical assessment within one hour 
 Advanced Care Plans/ReSPECT*/Anticipatory Care 

 
 *The ReSPECT process creates personalised recommendations for a 
 person’s clinical care and treatment in a future emergency in which they are 
 unable to express their choices.  
 
 The importance of care in Care Homes during Covid has accelerated this 
 work, and the work to identify a clinical lead for each care home and weekly 
 ward round taking place at each home commenced in July 2020, in advance 
 of the original anticipated November 2020 start.  
 

Page 50

Item 6



 
 

 Primary Care SitRep 
 
6.26 In order to support GP Practices across Manchester, MHCC developed an 
 online tool to report on COVID19 related practice issues. The aim of this is to 
 'take the temperature' of our Primary Care system on a regular basis, to allow 
 us to understand and wherever possible, anticipate pressures on the system 
 as they begin to occur. This allows plans to be quickly implemented and where 
 appropriate, mutual aid arrangements to be put in place. 
 
 The tool allows MHCC to more effectively prioritise the areas of most need 
 and respond more effetely to practices needs in a timely manner.  
 
6.27 National and local guidance  
 
 National and local guidance is reviewed daily to ensure that any key actions or 
 requirements for both MHCC and Manchester practices are shared and 
 actioned. Since 27th March MHCC has responded to 232 national Covid-19 
 guidance actions. Key information is shared with practices via twice-weekly 
 communications, via online services and where necessary, additional 
 contacting of practices if the information includes urgent requirements. 
 
6.28 Covid 19 Assessment Pathway 
 
 Manchester’s clinical leads worked together to develop a COVID Assessment 
 Pathway that reflects the latest national guidance. The pathway has been 
 reviewed and updated in line with emerging guidance since it was first 
 published on 8 April 2020 and provides clinicians with a succinct narrative 
 summary of the key emergent principles of managing patients of Covid-19 in 
 the community accompanied by clinical guidelines for telephone and video 
 consultations, and for those people requiring face to face consultations.  
 
6.29 ‘Hot Hubs’ 
 
 In line with national guidance, MHCC and federation partners quickly 
 established development of local ‘hot hubs’ to ensure accessible pathways to 
 enable the remote triage and a face to face service for ambulatory patients 
 with Covid symptoms or patients living in a household with someone who has 
 Covid symptoms.  
 
 Non-ambulatory patients requiring face to face appointments would be seen 
 by GP practices that rapidly developed home visiting models. A best practice 
 home visiting pathway was developed and shared with primary care to ensure 
 staff and patients were safe.  
 
 Five hot hub locations were established across the city, some of which have a 
 sheltered ‘drive-thru’ facility - provided by the three GP federations.  Referrals 
 are accepted from GPs and NHS 111 (CCAS) and the services continually 
 monitored to adapt to primary care capacity. 
  

Page 51

Item 6



 
 

 Additional ‘cold’ provision was commissioned to provide further primary care 
 resilience during this period. 
 
 Walk in Centres (WiCs) were reconfigured to a ‘talk before you walk’ access 
 model; the role of walk in centres will continue to be refined in line with  the 
 redesign of urgent and emergency care services. 
 
 The diagram below shows Hot and Cold Hub utilisation:   
 

 
6.30 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
 
 Working with partners such as the Mutual Aid Supply Hub, Didsbury Gin, 
 Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP), 
 Manchester Chinese Centre and NHS Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
 Leeds, Manchester Health and Care Commissioning (MHCC) has distributed 
 just over 700,000 items of PPE to GP practices reflecting the appropriate 
 national PPE guidance as it has evolved in recent months (i.e. face coverings 
 for patients).  Key PPE items include; masks, goggles, full face visors, hand 
 sanitisers, face masks and gloves.  
 
6.31 Primary Care Estates  
 
 Initial estates requirements focused on sourcing appropriate estate to deliver 
 hot hub services across the Manchester footprint including ensuring outdoor 
 space requirements such as parking and outdoor waiting and consultation 
 areas. 
 
 As per national guidance the move to a ‘digital first’ triage approach means 
 that Practices have had to consider how their site can be managed in different 
 ways to ensure both staff and patient safety. 
 

Page 52

Item 6



 
 

 All Practices have completed a GP Premises Checklist and Risk Assessment 
 for their building, where appropriate these have been completed in conjunction 
 with NHSPS, CHP and other tenants. The GP Checklist reflected on the fact 
 that ways of working, staff risk assessments and national requirements would 
 also determine how a site can be safely used by both staff and patients. 
 Practices were advised to consider zoning of staff and sites as well as 
 considering team bubbles and remote working to ensure Primary Care 
 services continue to be delivered to patients in a Covid secure environment. 
 This piece of work was shared at GM as an example of best practice. 
 
6.32 Workforce 
 
 In advance of the national mandate, MHCC developed a risk assessment 
 assurance tool to support practices and their staff. Over 2000 risk 
 assessments were completed with all practices engaged in the process and 
 over 700 mitigating actions plans in place to support those staff in higher risk 
 categories. Practices have worked with their staff to adopt new ways of 
 working such as remote working or in low risk work environments to maintain 
 their safety.  
 
 A Manchester locum bank has been established through the Federations, and 
 an additional Greater Manchester locum bank has been established to work 
 closely with practices regarding non-GP roles. It is recognised that increased 
 staffing levels, post-COVID and during the stabilisation and recovery 
 phase, will be essential but they will need to be deployed across new 
 ways of working and within new pathways and models of care. 
 
 The mental health & wellbeing needs of the primary care workforce need to be 
 factored into recovery planning. Practical issues, such as the impact of staff 
 not taking annual leave during COVID will mean there will potentially be a 
 backlog which will be taken towards the back end of the year 
 
 Test and trace guidance brings risk in terms of workforce and staff needing to 
 isolate; it also has the potential to destabilise practices and cause temporary 
 closure. The use of “workforce bubbles” or teams requires further 
 development to ensure service continuity.  Practices have had the full support 
 of MHCC to undertake testing where needed, and MHCC made available 
 antibody testing to all GP practice staff during the summer. 
 
6.33 Communications to GPs 
 
 In order to support the primary care team’s response to Covid, since the start 
 of the pandemic, MHCC’s communications team have produced 87 primary 
 care email updates. These updates contain the latest national and local 
 information and guidance. There have been 1009 documents uploaded onto 
 the CCG’s communication network (GP TeamNet) with over 10,000 views of 
 the COVID Topic Page.  
  
 To engage with and support the public MHCC has had a heavy social 
 media presence creating 910 posts across our platforms.  Our 590  tweets 

Page 53

Item 6



 
 

 have been seen by 823,000 people. Our Facebook content has generated 
 2.3k reactions and reached 1.78k new users. Our Instagram  content reached 
 114k people. We have shared key messages on several campaigns 
 including – COVID -19, Be Clear on Cancer, Test and Trace, Stroke 
 Awareness, Mental Health, Digital Practices and Domestic Abuse. This 
 communications work has been delivered as part of the wider Covid-19 
 communications workstream, overseen by the Covid Response Group, 
 chaired by the Director of Population Health 
 
6.34 2020/21 Flu Planning 
 
 Due to the risk of flu and COVID-19 co-circulating this winter, the flu 
 immunisation programme is vital to protect vulnerable people and support the 
 health and social care system across Manchester. The Health and Care 
 system in Manchester is focused on achieving maximum uptake of the flu 
 vaccine in eligible groups, as they are most at risk from flu or in the case of 
 children transmission to other members of the community. Seasonal Flu 
 alongside Covid-19 creates additional risks for population and health and care 
 system this winter. 
 
 Manchester Health and Care Commissioning is committed to: 
 

 A make every contact count approach 
 Each neighbourhood will have its own integrated flu plan including the 

development of new delivery mechanisms and flexible use of the 
workforce Major communications and engagement strategy at city-wide 
and local levels 

 Comprehensive workforce vaccination across health and care system 
and wider priority groups  

 Systematic focus on equalities and inclusion  
 Flu Core Programme Team established to drive system-wide 

coordination and Manchester Flu Plan 
 Start of a three-year plan to make significant shift in city’s immunisation 

rates 
 
6.35 Roll out of Manchester Primary Care Standards  
 
 The aim of the Manchester Primary Care Standards is to support all 
 Manchester GP practices to ensure that their patients continue to benefit from 
 pro-active, high quality primary care through a consistent population offer.  
 Many of the standards reduce the risks from Covid and patients will benefit 
 from these being focused on immediately as opposed to later in the year. 
 We have done our upmost to ensure the scheme will continue to be 
 achievable should we go into lockdown again at any point during the year. 
 
 The areas of focus this year are Inclusion  and working within neighbourhoods 
 to understand the local impact of Covid , Learning Disabilities, Cancer 
 recovery , Long term conditions optimisation and  safe support , proactively 
 contacting those patients with severe and enduring mental health diagnoses  
 as well as ensuring robust adherence to  Safeguarding standards.   An 

Page 54

Item 6



 
 

 additional standard has also been agreed specifically to support practices to 
 deliver a robust Covid response and to support Covid system recovery.  
 
6.36 Health Inequalities 
 
 COVID-19 has highlighted the significant inequalities that exist across the 
 nation’s health.  The virus has had a disproportionate impact on groups 
 already facing the poorest health outcomes.  In particular, it has underlined the 
 structural disadvantages experienced by people from Black, Asian and 
 minority ethnic communities (BAME).   The economic and social 
 consequences of measures to contain the virus risk worsening these 
 inequalities further. 
 
 The impact affects a significant proportion of the Manchester population.  Data 
 from the 2011 Census shows that approximately 205,000 people in 
 Manchester identify themselves as being from a BAME group.  This is 
 equivalent to approximately 41% of the population of the city, which is twice 
 the average for English local authorities as a whole (20%).  
   
 The response will require a sustained population health management 
 approach with local place- based partnerships incorporating NHS, local 
 government, voluntary sector and communities. GP practices will play a key 
 role within this approach.  
 
6.37 Summary 

 
Crisis encourages innovation by necessity. The need to work differently and 
deal with the unprecedented impact of Covid supported innovation – including 
targeting our most vulnerable communities, supporting working in outside 
settings with shelters, allowing patients to receive safe and effective care at 
home with “doorstep observations“, self-monitoring, use of wearable 
technology, working in partnership with patients and focussing on care around 
a patient rather than care delivered by a system. 
 

 The current plateau allows the opportunity to take stock, regain our focus and 
 establish next steps to ensure that we retain best practice, whilst reinstating 
 services and “building back better” – building a cultural change in how we 
 deliver care.  However, the following is clear:  
 

 Our priorities as outlined in the Manchester Primary Care Strategy 
remain relevant. These are: improved patient access, a focus on 
population health need, multidisciplinary working, long term conditions 
management, and a focus on digital primary care; 

 Significant progress has been made in relation to the priority areas 
outlined above in a very short space of time; and 

 Priorities key to supporting the Primary Care response such as online 
consultation and agile working are of greater importance now as we 
establish our new normal.  

 

Page 55

Item 6



 
 

Manchester is in the process of finalising its recovery plan, which falls largely 
in line with the GM Primary Care Recovery Plan committed to a series of 
actions as a collective. These were split down into immediate catch up and 
recovery, embedding what has worked well during COVID, and accelerating 
new ways of working. 
 

 The timeframes for immediate catch up and recovery and embedding what 
 has worked well were within a six-month period until November 20 with a 
 further six months to accelerate new ways of working. 
 
 As we enter Phase 3 Recovery, the focus will be to ensure primary care can 
 restore activity where clinically appropriate whilst managing increased 
 demand, both urgent and routine.  
 
 

Page 56

Item 6



Manchester City Council 
Report for Information 

 
Report to: Health Scrutiny Committee – 1 September 2020 
 
Subject: Overview Report 
 
Report of:  Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report provides the following information:  

 

 Recommendations Monitor 

 Key Decisions 

 Items for Information 

 Work Programme  
 

Recommendation 
 
The Committee is invited to discuss the information provided and agree any changes 
to the work programme that are necessary.  
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Lee Walker     
Position:  Scrutiny Support Officer     
Telephone:  0161 234 3376     
E-mail:  l.walker@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background document (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
None 

Page 57

Item 7



 

  
 

1. Monitoring Previous Recommendations  
 
This section of the report contains recommendations made by the Committee and responses to them indicating whether the 
recommendation will be implemented, and if it will be, how this will be done.   
 
There are currently no recommendations outstanding. 
 

 
 

The Council is required to publish details of key decisions that will be taken at least 28 days before the decision is due to be taken. 
Details of key decisions that are due to be taken are published on a monthly basis in the Register of Key Decisions. 
 
A key decision, as defined in the Council's Constitution is an executive decision, which is likely:  

 To result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the 
Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates, or  

 To be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the area 
of the city. 
 

The Council Constitution defines 'significant' as being expenditure or savings (including the loss of income or capital receipts) in 
excess of £500k, providing that is not more than 10% of the gross operating expenditure for any budget heading in the in the 
Council's Revenue Budget Book, and subject to other defined exceptions. 
 
An extract of the most recent Register of Key Decisions, published on 20 August 2020, containing details of the decisions under 
the Committee’s remit is included below. This is to keep members informed of what decisions are being taken and, where 
appropriate, include in the work programme of the Committee.  
 
Decisions that were taken before the publication of this report are marked *  
 
 
 

2.  Key Decisions 

P
age 58

Item
 7



 

  
 

Decision title 
 

What is the decision? Decision 
maker 

Planned 
date of 
decision 

Documents to be 
considered 

Contact officer details 
 

Carers Strategy 
(2019/08/22A) 
 
 

Allocation of Our 
Manchester Funding to 
support the Our 
Manchester Carers 
Strategy over a period of 
two years. 

Executive 16 October 
2019 

Report to the 
Executive 
 

Zoe Robertson 
z.robertson@manchester.g
ov.uk 
 

 
Subject  Care Quality Commission (CQC) Reports 
Contact Officers Lee Walker, Scrutiny Support Unit 

Tel: 0161 234 3376 
Email: l.walker@manchester.gov.uk 

 
Please find below reports provided by the CQC listing those organisations that have been inspected within Manchester since the 
Health Scrutiny Committee last met: 
 

Provider Address Link to CQC report Published Types of 
Services 

Rating 

Manchester 
Prime Care Ltd 
 

36 Nell Lane, 
Manchester 
M21 7SN 
 

https://www.cqc.org.uk
/location/1-
9252281026 

29 July 
2020  

Home Care 
Agency 

Overall: Inadequate 
Safe: Inadequate 
Effective: Requires Improvement 
Caring: Requires Improvement 
Responsive: Requires Improvement 
Well-led: Inadequate 

P
age 59

Item
 7



 

  
 

Unity Homes 
Ltd 

Oakbank Care 
Home 
Oakbank 
off Rochdale 
Road, 
Manchester 
M9 5YA 
 

https://www.cqc.org.uk
/location/1-123881207 

12 August 
2020 

Nursing 
Home 

Overall: Requires Improvement 
Safe: Requires Improvement 
Effective: Good 
Caring: Good 
Responsive: Good 
Well-led: Inadequate 

National 
Neurological 
Services Ltd 

Albert Road 
24 Albert Road 
Manchester 
M19 2FP 
 

https://www.cqc.org.uk
/location/1-
5878062410 

12 August 
2020 

Residential 
Home 

Overall: Requires Improvement 
Safe: Requires Improvement 
Effective: Requires Improvement 
Caring: Requires Improvement 
Responsive: Requires Improvement 
Well-led: Requires Improvement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60

Item
 7



 

  
 

Health Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme  

 

Tuesday 1 September 2020, 2:00pm  
(Report deadline Wednesday 19 August 2020)  

Item Purpose  Lead 
Executive 
Member 

Strategic 
Director/ 
Lead Officer 

Comments 

Covid-19 
Activity Update 

This report will provide an update to the Committee on activity 
relating to public health and adult social care. 

Cllr Craig David 
Regan / 
Bernadette 
Enright 

 

NHS Services 
and emerging 
recovery 
activity 

This report will provide information on the delivery of local 
NHS Services following the disruption experienced as a result 
of Covid-19. This will included information on, but not 
restricted to, Primary and Secondary Care, cancer services 
and dental services.  

 Nick Gomm  

Overview 
Report 

The monthly report includes the recommendations monitor, 
relevant key decisions, the Committee’s work programme and 
items for information. The report also contains additional 
information including details of those organisations that have 
been inspected by the Care Quality Commission. 

   

 

Tuesday 6 October 2020, 2:00pm  
(Report deadline Thursday 24 September 2020)  

Item Purpose  Lead 
Executive 
Member 

Strategic 
Director/ 
Lead Officer 

Comments 

Covid-19 
Activity Update 

This report will provide an update to the Committee on activity 
relating to public health and adult social care. 

Cllr Craig David 
Regan / 
Bernadette 
Enright 

 

P
age 61

Item
 7



 

  
 

Winter flu 
planning  

This report will provide an update on winter flu planning. Cllr Craig David 
Regan 

 

Overview 
Report 

    

 

Tuesday 3 November 2020, 2:00pm  
(Report deadline Thursday 22 October 2020)  

Item Purpose  Lead 
Executive 
Member 

Strategic 
Director/ 
Lead Officer 

Comments 

     

     

     

Overview 
Report 

    

 

Items to be Scheduled 

Item Purpose  Executive 
Member 

Strategic 
Director/ 
Lead 
Officer 

Comments 

Care Workers and 
the Care Sector 

To receive a report on the work undertaken to improve 
wages and conditions within the care sector. 

Cllr Craig Bernadette 
Enright 

 

Addressing Health 
Inequalities 

Noting the disproportionate impact that COVID-19 had on 
BAME citizens, vulnerable residents and areas of socio-
economic deprivation, to receive a report on the work 
undertaken to address these health inequalities. 
This report is to include an update of the work of the 
Neighbourhood Teams. 

Cllr Craig David 
Regan / 
Bernadette 
Enright / 
Nick Gomm 

 

 
 

P
age 62

Item
 7


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Manchester's 10 Point COVID-19 Action Plan
	Manchester's 10 Point COVID-19 Action Plan August 2020 v6

	6 Recovery of NHS services
	7 Overview Report

